COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

UNIFOR

AND

BELL CANADA

CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES



Bell EFFECTIVE MARCH 7, 2018



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Artic	cle	Page
	Preamble	1
1	Application	2
2	Discrimination	2
3	Definitions	2
4	Deduction of Regular Dues	3
5	Employee and Union Information	4
6	Notification to Union	4
7	Employee Representatives	5
8	Time Allowance	5
9	Meetings	6
10	Bargaining Procedure	6
11	Expenses	6
12	Management Rights	7
13	Health and Safety	7
14	Leave for Employees with Child Care Responsibilities	7
15	Discipline	8
16	Grievances	8
17	Arbitration	11
18	Force Adjustment	12
19	Technological Change	12
20	Rates of Pay	13
21	Wage Administration	13
22	Differential and Premium Pay	14
23	Seniority	16
24	Hours of Work	16
25	Overtime	17
26	Holidays	19
27	Days Off With Pay	21
28	Vacation	22
29	Sickness Absence	25

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Article		Page
30	Bereavement Leave	25
31	Travel Time and Expenses	26
32	Northern Service	27
33	Transfers	27
34	Workforce Diversity	29
35	Cost of Living Allowance	30
36	Benefits	30
37	Validity of Agreement	30
38	Cancellation of Previous Agreement	30
39	Duration	31
	Witness Clause	32
Арр	endix	Page
Α	List of Clerical and Associated Occupations	33
В	List of Localities	36
С	Weekly and Hourly Basic Rates of Pay by Salary Group	37
D	Achievement Incentive Plan	41
Ε	Working Conditions for New Temporary Employees	42
F	Rates of Pay for Temporary Employees Hired on a Seasonal Basis	44

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Memoranda of Agreement	Page
Averaging of Maximum Hours of Work	46
Bell ExpressVu LP Employee Integration	47
Compressed Work Week and Averaging of Hours of Work	50
Company's Position on Outstanding Grievances Related to Performance Management	58
Employee Reclassifications	59
Fact Finding Meetings	60
Home Dispatch	61
Joint Labour Relations Committee	63
Managerial or Non-Management Non-Unionized Job Postings	65
Mental Health	66
Outsourcing / Contracting Out	67
Paid Education Leave	69
Performance management	70
Profiles	71
Regular Full-Time Opportunities	73
Restrictions on Co-Located Contractors	74
Security Interviews	75
Site Consolidations	76
Split Shift for Teleworking	77
Violence or abuse in personal life	78
Visual Display Terminal	79
Voluntary Programs of Reduced Hours	81
Women Union Support Advocate	83
Workforce Adjustment Plan	84

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

	Page
Absence	
- Due to Family or Personal Emergencies	93
- Due to Sickness or Quarantine	25, 42
Achievement Incentive Plan	84
Adoption Leave	7
Appendix	
A List of Clerical and Associated Occupations	33, 34, 35
B List of Localities	36
C Weekly and Hourly Basic Rates of Pay by Salary Group	37, 38, 39, 40
D Achievement Incentive Plan	41
E Working Conditions for New Temporary Employees	42, 43
F Rates of Pay for Temporary Employees	44
Application	2
Arbitration	11
- Expedited Arbitration	11
Banked Overtime	18
Bargaining Procedure	6
Basic Hours of Work - Definition	3
Bell ExpressVu LP Employee Integration	47
Benefits	30
Bereavement Leave	25, 43
Board and Lodging Expense	26
Cancellation of Previous Agreement	30
Change in Tour of Duty	14, 52
Child Care Leave	7
Christmas Eve – Special Compensation	15
Collective Agreement Distribution	4
Committees	
- Corporate Health and Safety	7, 94
- Grievance	8
- Health and Safety	7, 94
- Joint Labour Relations	63
- Joint Corporate Diversity and Employment Equity	111
- Joint Pay Equity	97
- Vacation	109
Compensating Time Off – Overtime	18

	Page
Compressed Work Week	51, 52
	53, 54
	55 <u>,</u> 56
	57
Consecutive Saturdays Worked	15
Contracting Out	67
Corporate Health and Safety Committee	94
Cost of Living Allowance	30
Day Period – Definition	3, 52
Day Tour – Definition	3
Days Off With Pay	21, 56
- Personal Days Off With Pay	21
Deduction of Regular Dues	3
Definitions	2, 3
Differential and Premium Pay	14, 52
	53
Differential	
- Off-Normal Period	14
Discipline	8
- Meeting	4
- Notification to Union	4
- Removal	8
Discrimination	2
Duration of Agreement	31
Employee – Definition	2
Employee Development and Training	95
Employee Information	4
Employee Representatives	5
- Change in Status of	5
- Definition	3
- Notification to Representatives	4
- Notification to Company	5
- Number of	5
Ergonomic Guidelines	96
Expenses	6, 26
- Arbitration	11
- Board and Lodging	26
- Transportation	26
External Human Resources – Utilization of	107
Fact Finding Meetings	60

	Page
Force Adjustment	12
Full-time Employee - Definition	3
Grievances	8
- Disability Benefits	9
- Dismissal	9
- Individual and Group	8
- Policy	9
- Time Allowance	5
- Time Limits	10
Half Tour – Definition	3
Headquarters - Definition (see Localities)	3
Health and Safety	7
- Health and Safety Committees	7
Higher Rates of Pay to Individual Employees	14
Holidays	19
- Company	19
- During Vacation	23
- New Temporary Employees	42
- Pay for Work on a Holiday	19, 54
- Pay for Holiday Not Worked	20, 55
- Substitute Holiday	19
Home Dispatch	61, 62
- Eligibility	61
- Working Conditions	61
Hours of Work	16
- Arrangement and Assignment of Tours of Duty	16
- Average of Maximum Hours	46
- Basic	16
- Compressed Work Week	53
- Day Period	0.47.50
	3, 17, 52
- Definition	3
- Full-time Employees	16, 53
- Meal Period	17
- Off-normal Period	3, 52
- Off-normal Tour	3
- Part-time Employees	16
- Scheduled Work Week	3
- Tour of Duty	3, 16, 52
	J, 10, 5∠

- Voluntary Programs of Reduced Hours Humanity Fund Intervals between Steps in Salary Groups	Page 81 105 13, 37,
Job Postings	38, 39, 40
- Permanent Positions	28, 29, 65
- Temporary Assignments	27, 65
Joint Labour Relations Committee	63
Joint Pay Equity Committee	97
Lay-offs	7, 12, 84, 89
Leave for Employees With Child Care Responsibilities	7
Letters of Intent	
- Alphabetical Index	92
List of Clerical and Associated Occupations	33, 34, 35
Localities	3, 36
Management Rights	7
Managerial or Non-Management Non-Unionized Job Postings	65
Meal Period	17
Meetings	6
- Bargaining Representatives	6
- Expenses Incurred	6
- Grievances	5
- Security Interviews	75
- Time Allowance	5
Memoranda of Agreement	
- Alphabetical Index	45
Mental Health	66
New Year's Eve - Special Compensation	15
Northern Service	27
- Allowances	27
- Localities - Definitions	27
Notification	
- To Union	4, 13, 25, 81
- To Company	1, 5, 31
- To representatives	4, 81

	Page
Number of Employee Representatives	5
Occasional Employee - Definition	2
Occupations	
- Clerical and Associated	33, 34,
0"	35
Off-normal Period	
- Definition	3
- Differential Paid	14
Off-normal Tour	
- Definition	3, 52
- Differential Paid	14
Outsourcing / Contracting Out	67
Outsourcing Initiatives	99
Overtime	17
- Compensating Time Off	18
- Continuous	18
- Full-time Employees	17, 54
- Meal Period	18
- New Temporary Employees	42
- Non-continuous	18
- Part-time Employees	17, 54
- Relief Period	18
Paid Education Leave	69
Part-time Employee	
- Definition	3
- Hours of Work	16
- Overtime	17
- Pay Treatment	13, 17,
	20, 21,
	37, 38,
Don't tipe in a	39, 40
Part-timing	0.4
- Voluntary Programs of Reduced Hours	81
Pay Days	14
Pay for Holiday not Worked	20, 55
Pay for Work on a Holiday	19, 54
Pay in Lieu of Vacation	24
Pay Treatment - Employee Absent	13, 25
Performance Management	70
Personal Days Off With Pay	21, 55

	Page
Planning for Paid Days Off	100
Preamble	1
Pregnant Employees, VDT	79
Premium Pay	
- Change in Tour of Duty	14, 52
- Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve	15
- Consecutive Saturdays Worked	15, 53
- New Temporary Employees	42
- Sundays	15
Preventing Violence in the Workplace Interviews	102
Probationary Employee	
- Definition	3
- Termination	8
Profiles	71
Promotional Pay Treatment	13
Rates of Pay	13
Appendix C – Weekly and Hourly Basic Rates of Pay by Salary Group	37, 38, 39, 40
- Appendix F – Rates of Pay for Temporary Employees Hired on a Seasonal Basis	44
Regular Employee – Definition	2
Regular Full-time Opportunities	73
Relief Period	18
Representatives - Definitions	3
Restrictions on Co-located Contractors	74
Scheduled Work Week – Definition	3
Security Interviews	75
Seniority	16
Sickness or Accident	25
Sickness Absence	25, 42
- Absence	25
- Quarantine	25
Site Consolidations	76
Split Shift for Teleworking	77
Sunday Premium Pay	15
Technological Change	12
Temporary Employee – Definition	2
Temporary Work Assignments	13, 26, 62

	Page
Termination Notice	43
Time Allowance	5
Tour of Duty	
- Arrangement and Assignment	16
- Definition	3
- Premium Pay	14, 15
	52
Training and Learning Opportunities	104
Transfers	27
Transportation Expenses	
- On the Job	26
- Sickness or Accident	26
- To and From Headquarters	26
Travel Time and Expenses	26, 61
- Board and Lodging	62
- Transportation Expenses	61
Union Dues	3
Union Information	4
Utilization of External Human Resources	107
Vacation	22, 56
- Committees	109
- Entitlement	22
- Year of Engagement or Re-engagement	22
- Subsequent years	22
- Compressed Work Week	56
- Holiday During	23, 56
- Number of Weeks	22
- Pay	22
- Pay in Lieu of	24
- Period	23
- Schedules	23
- Sickness or Accident Prior to	23
Validity of Agreement	30
Variable Pay Incentive Plan	110
Violence or Abuse in Personal Life	78
Visual Display Terminal	79
Voluntary Programs of Reduced Hours	81
Wage Administration	13

	Page
Wage Increases	
- Effective Date	13
- Higher Rates of Pay	14
- Interval from One Step to the Next	13
- Pay Days	14
- Promotional Pay Treatment	13
- Temporary Work Assignments	13
Weekly and Hourly Basic Rates of Pay by Salary Group	37, 38
Witness Clause	39, 40
	32
Women Union Support Advocate	83
Workforce Adjustment Plan	84
- Career Transition Services	85
- Displacement Chart	88
- Displacement Procedure	87
- Department and District Responsibilities	84
- Involvement of the Union	84
- Lay-Off Allowance Plan	89
- Benefits Coverage	90
- Information Lists	91
- Recall Procedures	91
- Management of Surplus	
- Separation	84
Workforce Diversity	29
Workforce Diversity and Employment Equity	111
Working Conditions for New Temporary Employees	42

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made in duplicate this 19th day of April 2018 BETWEEN:

UNIFOR, the duly certified bargaining agent, hereinafter referred to as the "Union",

OF THE FIRST PART:

- and -

BELL CANADA, hereinafter called the "Company",

OF THE SECOND PART.

WHEREAS, by notice dated the 28th day of August, 2017 the Union requested the Company to enter into negotiations with a view to the completion of a collective agreement, replacing the Collective Agreement dated the 1st day of June 2013:

- (a) To establish the rates of pay, hours of work and other working conditions for such of the employees as are employed in any of the occupations listed in Appendix A,
- (b) To establish a procedure for final settlement without stoppage of work, on application of either party, of differences concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in pursuance of the above request, negotiations between the parties in good faith have resulted in this Collective Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, this Agreement witnesseth that the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 APPLICATION

- **1.01** The Company agrees to recognize the Union as the sole collective bargaining agent for employees covered by this Agreement.
- **1.02** Where the Company adds a new occupation to the bargaining unit, Appendix A shall be deemed to be amended to include that new occupation upon notification to the Union.

ARTICLE 2 DISCRIMINATION

- **2.01** The Company will not discriminate against an employee because of membership in the Union or activity authorized herein on behalf of the Union.
- 2.02 The Company and the Union agree that they will not threaten, intimidate or unlawfully discriminate against an employee for reasons of that employee's pregnancy, race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, political affiliation with a legitimate political party, conviction for which a pardon has been granted or for exercising any rights under this Collective Agreement. Furthermore, the Company and the Union are committed to working together to ensure a workplace which is free from all harassment.
- **2.03** Use in this Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

ARTICLE 3 DEFINITIONS

- **3.01** For purposes of this Agreement,
- (a) "Employee" means a person employed in Bell Canada, to do work in any of the occupations listed in Appendix A, but does not include a person who:
 - (1) is employed in a confidential capacity in matters relating to labour relations, or
 - (2) is employed as an occasional employee, or
 - (3) exercises management functions.
- (b) "Regular Employee" means an employee whose employment is reasonably expected to continue longer than one (1) year, although such employment may be terminated earlier by action on the part of the Company or the employee.
- (c) "Temporary Employee" means a Part-time employee who is engaged on the understanding that the period of employment is not expected to exceed three (3) years.

A Temporary employee, upon accumulating 36 months of continuous service shall be offered a Regular Part-Time position and, upon her acceptance, be reclassified, to a Regular Part-Time status, in her current job and at her current work location. Should the employee refuse this offer, her employment shall be terminated.

The working conditions outlined in Appendix E apply to a Temporary employee with less than six (6)

- months of net credited service.
- (d) "Full-time Employee" means an employee who is normally required to work the basic hours of work.
- (e) "Part-time Employee" means an employee who is normally required to work less than the basic hours of work.
- (f) "Occasional Employee" means a person who is engaged on the understanding that the period of employment will not exceed 45 days in a calendar year.
- (g) "Probationary Employee" means an employee who has worked less than 130 days or who has less than 12 months of net credited service. When the first of these two (2) terms is completed, the employee will no longer be considered a probationary employee.
- (h) "Basic Hours of Work" means the basic hours of work per day and the basic days of work per week as provided in Article 24 for Full-time employees.
- (i) "Scheduled Work Week" means the scheduled tours of duty comprising the basic hours of work for the week.
- (j) "Tour of Duty" means the period of time, not exceeding the basic hours of work per day, which an employee is scheduled to work on any day, and of which she has been advised in advance.
- (k) "Half Tour" means one-half the duration of a tour of duty.
- (I) "Day Period" means the period of time between 6:00 A.M. and 7:00 P.M. on any day of the week.
- (m) "Off-normal Period" means the period of time between 7:00 P.M. of one day and 6:00 A.M. of the following day.
- (n) "Day Tour" means a tour of duty all of which falls within the Day Period.
- (o) "Off-normal Tour" means a tour of duty all or a portion of which falls within the Off-Normal Period.
- (p) "Representative" means an employee who has been elected to represent a group of employees, and whose election as such has been certified by the Union to the Company.
- (q) "Headquarters" means a locality listed in Appendix B in or from which an employee normally works.

ARTICLE 4 DEDUCTION OF REGULAR DUES

- **4.01** Subject to the provisions of this Article, the Company will, in each pay period, deduct an amount equivalent to the regular Union dues from the pay of all employees in the bargaining unit.
- **4.02** Where an employee does not have sufficient earnings in respect of any pay period to permit deductions, the Company shall not be obligated to make such deductions from subsequent earnings.
- **4.03** The Company will cease making such deductions when an employee is assigned to a position not covered by an Agreement with the Union, with the exception of employees who are assigned to an acting or temporary management position.
- **4.04** The amount of regular Union dues shall be such amount as may from time to time be certified to the Company, in a form approved by the Company, by an Officer of the Union.

- **4.05** Regular Union dues means the dues established as the dues payable and shall not include any initiation fee, insurance premium or special levy.
- **4.06** As soon as possible after the end of each pay period, the Company will remit to the Treasurer of the Union, by wire transfer, the amount so deducted.
- **4.07** The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Company harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this Article.

ARTICLE 5 EMPLOYEE AND UNION INFORMATION

Employee Information

5.01 The Company agrees to supply each employee with a copy of this Agreement.

Union Information

5.02 The Company agrees to send, on September 15th of each year, to designated Officers of the CEP, a list of Company e-mail addresses as shown on Company records of all employees in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 6 NOTIFICATION TO UNION

- **6.01** The Company agrees to supply bi-monthly, to designated Local Officers of the Union, the surname and first name on Company records, employment status, occupation, and reporting centre, of all employees, as well as the names of the Contribution Path (CP) 2, CP3 and CP4 managers and the organization code of the CP2 manager of each employee, within a district or equivalent operating unit of the Company.
- **6.02** The Company agrees to advise the Representative concerned when an employee is hired, transferred, reclassified, promoted or leaves the Company. Such advice will be given to the Representative at the time the employee is informed or immediately thereafter.
- **6.03** (a) Subject to the provisions of Section 6.04, the Company agrees to give as much prior notice as circumstances permit to the Representative of the employee concerned of any contemplated written reprimand or written warning, dismissal, suspension or demotion.
- (b) When a meeting is conducted to announce a disciplinary measure as described in Section 15.01 to an employee, it is agreed that the Representative of the Union must be invited to attend the meeting, unless the employee concerned objects.
- **6.04** Where the Company deems it necessary to take immediate action in dismissing, suspending or demoting any employee, the Company shall thereafter immediately advise and review the case with the Representative of the employee concerned.

ARTICLE 7 EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

- **7.01** The number of Representatives shall not exceed 425. The Union agrees to notify the Company in writing of the name of each Representative and of the Company operating unit in which she acts as a Representative. A Representative shall not act as such during working time until the Company has been notified in writing of her election.
- **7.02** Before changing the status of any Representative who is to continue in the Company's employ, so as to render her ineligible to represent her voting unit, such Representative shall be allowed reasonable time to transfer her duties as a Representative to her successor.

ARTICLE 8 TIME ALLOWANCE

- **8.01** The Company agrees that:
- (a) An employee who has, or believes she has a grievance may confer with her Representative or with management during her scheduled working hours, without deduction of the time so occupied in the computation of the time worked for the Company, and without deduction of wages in respect thereof; provided, however, that each employee must arrange with her immediate manager, subject to service requirements, for all time off the job required for the above purposes.
- (b) A Representative may discuss a grievance with a grievor or with management, or attend meetings with representatives of the Company on behalf of the Union, during her scheduled working hours, without deduction of the time so occupied in the computation of the time worked for the Company, and without deduction of wages in respect thereof; provided, however, that the Representative must arrange with her immediate manager, subject to service requirements, for all time off the job required for the above purposes.
- **8.02** (a) A Local Representative of the Union may attend pre-bargaining meetings held by the Union to prepare for bargaining with the Company, without deduction of the time so occupied in the computation of the time worked for the Company, and without deduction of wages in respect thereof, up to a maximum of five (5) days from her regularly scheduled tours of duty, provided that the Company is given the name of the Local Representative at least two (2) weeks before the date the time off is to begin.
- (b) It is agreed that the total of all such pre-bargaining time off for all Local Representatives calculated together shall not exceed 270 days.
- **8.03** An authorized bargaining Representative of the Union may have time off from work during her scheduled working hours for purposes of bargaining, without deduction of the time so occupied in the computation of the time worked for the Company, and without deduction of wages in respect thereof; provided that such time is actually devoted to collective bargaining with management, but only until the expiry date of this Collective Agreement, or the date that conciliation assistance is requested, whichever is later.
- **8.04** (a) Representatives may, without deduction of the time so occupied in the computation of the time worked for the Company, attend to other business of the Union during scheduled working hours, provided that each Representative must arrange with her immediate manager, subject to service requirements, for all time off the job, not to exceed 30 consecutive calendar days, required for the above purpose and providing such business is concerned with the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement. It is agreed the Union Representative has a legal obligation to provide proper representation, and time off for Union business will not unreasonably be withheld. Both the Union and the Company agree that the granting and use of time off the job will not be abused. All time off so required will be granted as time off without pay; however

- (b) The Company will pay the Representative, on behalf of the Union, at her basic rate of pay for all time off without pay to attend to other business of the Union. Any amount so paid by the Company will be billed to the Union, which shall remit that amount to the Company within 30 days of receipt of the bill;
- (c) Requests for time off without pay to attend to other business of the Union, in excess of five (5) days, must be submitted to the Representative's immediate manager at least 21 days prior to the date requested for the commencement of the time off without pay.
- **8.05** When a Union Steward, Chief Steward or Local Officer is unavailable to meet with the Company, she may be replaced by an available Union Steward, Chief Steward or Local Officer from amongst those designated by the Union as a replacement.

ARTICLE 9MEETINGS

- **9.01** Meetings between the authorized bargaining Representatives of the Union and the designated bargaining Representatives of the Company shall be held as required, on reasonable notice by either party.
- **9.02** At such meetings, the number of persons shall not exceed seven (7) for the Company and nine (9) for the Union. Any increase to the number of persons at the bargaining table shall be by mutual agreement between the parties.

ARTICLE 10 BARGAINING PROCEDURE

- **10.01** All negotiations with a view to the completion of a collective agreement or to effecting changes or modifications in this Agreement shall be conducted between the authorized bargaining Representatives of the Union on the one hand and the designated bargaining Representatives of the Company on the other.
- **10.02** No agreement resulting from collective bargaining as herein provided shall be deemed to have been concluded until it is reduced to writing and signed by the authorized bargaining Representatives of the Union and by the designated bargaining Representatives of the Company, and an agreement so signed shall take effect as and from the effective date specified therein.

ARTICLE 11 EXPENSES

- **11.01** Each party shall bear the expenses incurred by its own representatives in attending meetings or proceedings contemplated by this Agreement, and all joint expenses incurred in respect of such meetings and proceedings shall be borne by the parties in equal shares.
- **11.02** (a) The cost of simultaneous translation associated with bargaining sessions with the Company shall be borne by the Company up to the expiry date of the Collective Agreement, or the date that conciliation assistance is requested, whichever is later.
- (b) Once the collective agreement has expired or conciliation assistance has been requested, the cost of simultaneous translation associated with bargaining sessions with the Company shall be borne by the parties in equal shares.

ARTICLE 12 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

12.01 The Company has the exclusive right and power to manage its operations in all respects and in accordance with its commitments and responsibilities to the public, to conduct its business efficiently and to direct the working forces and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it has the exclusive right and power to hire, promote, transfer, demote or lay-off employees, and to suspend, discharge or otherwise discipline employees. The Company agrees that any exercise of these rights and powers shall not contravene the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 13 HEALTH AND SAFETY

- **13.01** Both parties to this Agreement acknowledge their common concern for maintaining a healthy and safe working environment.
- **13.02** The Company accepts the responsibility of making adequate and reasonable provisions for the health and safety of employees during their working hours. The Company will welcome suggestions by the Union regarding the health and safety of employees.
- **13.03** It is the employee's responsibility, subject to Company regulations and practices, to take all reasonable and necessary measures to ensure her safety; no employee is required to work in dangerous conditions or to use dangerous equipment.

Health and Safety Committees

- **13.04** (a) The Corporate Health and Safety Committee is composed of two (2) employees from the bargaining unit: one (1) employee from the Quebec region and one (1) employee from the Ontario region, as well as one (1) national Union representative and three (3) Company representatives.
- (b) The Corporate Health and Safety Committee will be responsible for establishing its own rules and procedures, as well as the rules and procedures of the Local Health and Safety Committees, their scope of responsibility, frequency of meetings and any other similar matter.
- **13.05** The Local Health and Safety Committees are composed in equal numbers of employees and managers of the Company.
- **13.06** Except for the number of Committees and the frequency of meetings, the rules for both the Corporate Health and Safety Committee and the Local Health and Safety Committees, as referred to in Subsection 13.04 (b) shall mean the powers and obligations of Work Place Health and Safety Committees found in Part II of the Canada Labour Code.
- **13.07** It is clearly understood that relevant health and safety issues which have implications that transcend local concerns will be referred to the Corporate Health and Safety Committee together with any documentation dealing with these issues.

ARTICLE 14 LEAVE FOR EMPLOYEES WITH CHILD CARE RESPONSIBILITIES

14.01 An employee who has completed six (6) consecutive months of continuous employment with the Company shall be granted child care or adoption leave, without pay, under the conditions of eligibility set forth in the applicable Company practices currently in effect, or as amended from time to time following consultation with the Union.

14.02 In addition, a Regular employee who has completed six (6) consecutive months of continuous employment with the Company and who meets the conditions of eligibility contained in the applicable Company practices, shall receive an allowance under the Supplemental Allowance Plan in accordance with these same practices.

ARTICLE 15DISCIPLINE

- **15.01** No employee shall be given a written reprimand or a written warning, be suspended, dismissed or demoted for disciplinary reasons except for just cause.
- **15.02** All disciplinary measures referred to in Section 15.01, shall be removed from an employee's record no later than two (2) years, after they have been imposed.
- **15.03** Notwithstanding Section 15.01, the Company retains the right to terminate the employment of a probationary employee who is found by the Company to be unsuitable.

ARTICLE 16GRIEVANCES

- **16.01** (a) The parties to this Agreement are committed to promptly resolving any differences between the Union and the employees it represents and the immediate manager. The parties agree that the employee's Representative, or a Representative designated by the Union, and the manager of the employee should try to resolve the differences prior to a grievance being filed in accordance with the provisions of this Article. The employee concerned may attend this meeting, if she so desires.
- (b) Grievances of an individual employee or groups of employees shall be handled by the Union at the request of the employee or employees, and shall be processed in accordance with Sections 16.03 to 16.16 inclusive. Each grievance shall be presented to the Company within 42 calendar days from the occurrence on which such grievance is based.
- **16.02** All grievances shall be submitted in writing on a standard grievance form agreed to by the parties, and shall include:
- (i) the grievor's name and occupation,
- (ii) the date of the event giving rise to the grievance,
- (iii) the nature of the grievance,
- (iv) the remedy sought from the Company,
- (v) identification of the Article(s) allegedly violated, unless the grievance relates to a matter not covered by this Agreement.

Individual and Group Grievances

Step 1

16.03 (a) Where a grievance is handled by the Union at the request of the employee(s), the Representative of the employee(s) or a Representative designated by the Union, shall attempt to settle the grievance with the Contribution Path (CP) 3 manager having jurisdiction over the grievor(s) or another designated manager. The manager shall have seven (7) calendar days following the presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision orally. The manager shall sign the grievance and enter the date a decision was rendered.

(b) In the case of a group grievance, the Union representative and the Company shall jointly agree on the number of employees who will participate in the grievance presentation. If an agreement cannot be reached, the Union representative may invite a maximum of 10 percent of the grievors involved rounded to the next highest whole number.

Step 2

16.04 Where a grievance has not been settled at Step 1, it shall be submitted by the Local Representative or a Representative designated by the Union to the CP4 manager having jurisdiction over the grievor(s), or his designate, within 21 calendar days of the disposition of the matter at Step 1. The manager shall have 21 calendar days following the presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision. The manager shall present the reasons for his decision in writing to the Union.

Step 3

- **16.05** (a) (1) Where a grievance concerning the interpretation, administration, application or alleged violation of a provision of the Agreement has not been settled at Step 2, the grievance shall, if so desired by the Union, be discussed at a meeting of the Grievance Committee. Each party will designate its representatives on this Committee.
- (2) Notice requesting a meeting of the Grievance Committee shall be given by the Union to the Director Labour Relations, or to his designate, within the 42 calendar days following disposition of the matter at Step 2. The Company members of the Grievance Committee shall have 42 calendar days following presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision. The Grievance Committee shall present the reasons for its decision in writing to the Union.
- (b) (1) Where a grievance, other than one described in Subsection 16.05 (a) (1), has not been settled at Step 2, it shall, if so desired by the Union, be submitted by a Representative designated by the Union, to the CP5 manager or his equivalent, within 42 calendar days of the disposition of the matter at Step 2. The CP5 manager, or his equivalent, shall have 42 calendar days following presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision.
- (2) The CP5 manager, or his equivalent shall present the reasons for his decision in writing to the Union. This shall constitute the final resolution of any grievance submitted under Subsection 16.05 (b) (1).
- **16.06** Where within a Department a level of management mentioned in this Article does not exist, the Representative designated by the Union will present the grievance at the next step of the grievance procedure. Under no circumstances shall a grievance be submitted to a manager at a level higher than that of a CP5 manager.

Dismissal

16.07 In the case of a dismissal, the matter may be referred directly to Step 2 of the grievance procedure as provided in Section 16.04. In such a case, the grievance shall be presented within 42 calendar days from the occurrence on which such grievance is based.

Disability Benefits

16.08 In the case of a refusal of disability benefits, or in the case of a suspension of disability benefits, the matter will be referred directly to Step 2 of the grievance procedure as provided in Section 16.04. In such a case, the grievance shall be presented within 42 calendar days from the occurrence on which such grievance is based.

Policy, Union and Company Grievances

16.09 If the interests of the Union as a party to this Agreement are affected by the Company's interpretation, administration, application or alleged violation of any provision of this Agreement, the Union may file a grievance

directly to the CP4 manager involved. Such grievance shall be identified as a Policy Grievance and shall be submitted by the Local Representative from that Local and signed on behalf of the Union. That manager shall have 21 calendar days following the presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision. The manager shall present the reasons for his decision in writing to the Union.

A Policy Grievance may also be submitted in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 16.10 (b) where it concerns a matter of broader application than a district.

- **16.10** (a) If a Policy Grievance has not been settled as provided under the provisions of Section 16.09, it shall be submitted by a National Representative of the Union to the CP5 manager, or equivalent, within 42 calendar days of the disposition of the matter under Section 16.09. That manager shall have 42 calendar days following the presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision. The manager shall present the reasons for his decision in writing to the Union.
- (b) A Policy and/or Union Grievance of broader application than a district may be signed and submitted directly at step 3 in accordance with the provisions of Section 16.05 by the President of the Union, of an Officer of the Union, or his delegate to the Director Labour Relations or to his designate. The Company shall have 42 calendar days following the presentation of the grievance in which to render a decision. The manager shall present the reasons for his decision in writing to the Union.
- **16.11** Where a Policy Grievance has not been settled as provided under the provisions of Section 16.10(a), the grievance shall be processed in accordance with the provisions of Subsection 16.05 (a).
- **16.12** The Company may file a grievance at Step 3 of the grievance procedure. Such grievance shall be filed by the Director Labour Relations, or by his designate. For purposes of Company grievances, the provisions of Section 16.05 will be read and construed with necessary changes.

Time Limits

- **16.13** Any grievance not presented or processed by the Union in conformity with the mandatory time limits prescribed in this Article shall be deemed to have been abandoned and cannot be continued or reopened.
- **16.14** If the Company fails to respond or if the grievance is not settled within these time limits, the grievance may be processed immediately to the next step.
- **16.15** Time limits may be extended only by mutual consent, in writing.

General

- **16.16** Where a grievance is being handled by a Representative of the Union, the Company will not endeavour to settle the difference with the employee involved without prior notice to the Representative. Where, after such notice, an interview between the employee and management is to take place, the employee shall have the right to be accompanied by a Representative. No such grievance will be deemed to have been settled without the concurrence of the employee's Representative.
- **16.17** The right of an individual employee or groups of employees to settle their grievances personally with the management of the Company through the regular supervisory channels, up to and including the CP5 manager, or equivalent, is not restricted by this Agreement, except where such grievance is being handled, or has been handled, by the Union.

ARTICLE 17 ARBITRATION

- **17.01** Wherever a difference relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement arises between the Union and the Company, there shall be no stoppage of work and either party may, after exhausting the grievance procedure established by this Agreement, institute arbitration proceedings within 42 calendar days after the disposition of the matter by the Company, in accordance with Subsection 16.05 (a), but no later, in the manner set forth below, to have the difference in question determined. It is expressly agreed that the right to arbitration does not extend to any matters other than those concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement.
- 17.02 In the event that it becomes necessary to submit any matters to arbitration, the parties will endeavour in each instance to agree upon and appoint a single arbitrator within 10 calendar days after the service by either party upon the other of written notice to arbitrate. If the parties fail to agree upon the appointment of an arbitrator, application may be made by either party, on written notice to the other, to the Minister of Labour for Canada, to appoint as arbitrator a person knowledgeable and experienced in the interpretation of written collective agreements.
- **17.03** The arbitrator shall not have any power to alter or change any of the provisions of this Agreement, or to substitute any new provisions for any existing provisions thereof, and in reaching his decision he shall be bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- **17.04** The arbitrator shall, before the hearing, require the representatives of the parties to attend before him to define the question of interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation to be arbitrated and to establish the procedure to be followed at the hearing. All steps in connection with the arbitration shall be taken as expeditiously as possible.
- **17.05** The parties shall each bear one-half of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator and of any clerk or stenographer whom he may require and, except as aforesaid, each party shall bear all expenses incurred by it whether of witnesses, the attendance of witnesses and representatives, exhibits or otherwise.
- **17.06** The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties, but such decision shall not have retroactive effect prior to the date of the occurrence on which the grievance is based.

Expedited Arbitration

- **17.07** Where the matter at issue is one relating to dismissal for just cause under Section 15.01, the matter may be submitted to the following process for expedited arbitration:
 - (a) A list of Arbitrators, who shall be mutually agreed to by the parties, will be established according to, and dependent on, their availability.
 - (b) Unless the parties mutually agree to a lesser number of days, three (3) days in each calendar month shall be scheduled on dates mutually agreed to by the parties as potential hearing days for a period of six (6) months in advance for each of the succeeding six (6) months.
 - (c) The Union shall assign the grievance(s) to be heard to these Arbitrators no later than sixty (60) calendar days prior to its sitting. No more grievances than can be reasonably heard within the sitting days provided in that month may be referred to that Arbitrator. In the event that no grievance is assigned to an Arbitrator sixty (60) days prior to the hearing date, that hearing date shall be cancelled.
- **17.08** By mutual written agreement of the parties, any other grievance may also be submitted to the Expedited Arbitration Process.

ARTICLE 18 FORCE ADJUSTMENT

- **18.01** Where any condition arises which reduces the work load to the extent that a general program of lay-offs or spreading the work is contemplated, the Company shall endeavour to reach an agreement with the Union as to whether a plan of part-timing, lay-offs or a combination of the two shall be put into effect.
- **18.02** In the event that an agreement as to a plan cannot be reached within a period of 30 days after the matter has been submitted to the Union, the Company may proceed on a plan of part-timing to the extent it deems necessary.
- **18.03** It is expressly understood, however, that if the Company proceeds on a plan of part-timing at the expiration of the 30 day period or later as prescribed in this Article, negotiations toward an agreement relating to a force adjustment plan shall be resumed at any time at the request of either party. Similarly, after agreement has been reached as to a plan of force adjustment, either party may resume negotiations at any time in an effort to obtain agreement upon modifications of the plan then in effect.

ARTICLE 19 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- **19.01** The parties agree that they will continue the system of consultation in force since 1953 in order to assist employees affected by any technological change to adjust to the effects thereof and that, therefore, Sections 52, 54 and 55 of the Canada Labour Code shall not apply during the term of this Agreement.
- **19.02** The parties further agree that in cases where, as a result of technological change, the service of an employee is no longer required beyond a specified date because of lack of work or the discontinuance of a function, the Workforce Adjustment Plan concluded by the parties will apply.
- **19.03** The Company agrees to provide as much advance notice as is practicable but, not less than four (4) weeks' notice to the Union of the introduction or implementation of technological change when it will result in significant changes in the employment status or working conditions of the employees.
- **19.04** It is understood that the purpose of these meetings is to evaluate the alternatives for the affected employees, including but not limited to, transfer into other positions, training, displacement, if applicable.
- **19.05** The Company will provide the following information:
- 1. the nature of the technological change;
- 2. the date or dates on which the change will take effect;
- 3. the location or locations involved;
- 4. the approximate number and profiles of employees likely to be affected by the technological change;
- 5. the effect that the technological change is likely to have on the terms and conditions of employment of the employees affected; and
- 6. to the extent available, information will be provided about the potential number of layoffs, new jobs or classifications to be created, if any, as a result of the proposed technological change
- **19.06** As soon as reasonably practicable after notice is given under section 19.03, the Company shall consult meaningfully with the Union concerning the rationale for the change and the topics referred to in section 19.04 on each group of employees, including possible training.

ARTICLE 20 RATES OF PAY

- **20.01** The parties agree that the Profile Plan of job evaluation affords an acceptable method for establishing the relative worth of Clerical and Associated occupations. Clerical and Associated occupations shall be evaluated by the Company in accordance with the Profile Plan.
- **20.02** The basic rates of pay corresponding to the salary groups into which Clerical and Associated occupations listed in Appendix A are classified, are set forth in Appendix C. The basic rates of pay for clerical and associated occupations other than those listed in Appendix A shall be determined by the Company.
- **20.03** The rates of pay for employees who work less than the basic hours per week shall not be less than the pro rata proportion of the rates of pay hereby established.

ARTICLE 21 WAGE ADMINISTRATION

Wage Increases

- **21.01** Except as otherwise provided in Appendix C of this Agreement, the time interval from one step to the next on the salary groups shall be 12 months.
- **21.02** The time interval shall begin, for an employee who is engaged or re-engaged:
- (a) between the first and fifteenth day of a month inclusive on the first day of that month,
- (b) on or after the sixteenth day of a month on the first day of the following month.
- **21.03** Wage increases shall be granted on the basis of satisfactory performance as determined by the Company, and may be granted at intervals specified in the salary groups in Appendix C, or be deferred for a period determined by the Company. Where an increase is deferred, the employee concerned and the Representative of the Union shall be informed of the reasons for such action. Increases and decreases in the basic rates of pay shall not be made effective while an employee is absent due to leave, accident, sickness or quarantine.
- **21.04** The effective day for an increase shall be the first day of the bi-weekly pay period closest to the first day of the month.

Promotional Pay Treatment

21.05 Where an employee is promoted, the rate of pay on promotion shall be the rate on the salary group of the new job which grants the closest higher rate. The months accumulated since the last scheduled increase prior to promotion shall be credited to the employee on the salary group of the new job. However, the number of months so accumulated is limited to the time interval to reach the next step of the salary group as outlined in Appendix C of this Agreement. For employees at top step of their current salary group, the next scheduled increase will take place on their Net Credited Service (NCS) anniversary.

Temporary Work Assignments

- **21.06** (a) Where an employee is temporarily assigned to a job in a higher salary group and has completed at least one (1) full tour of duty, the pay treatment for the period of such temporary assignment shall be in accordance with Section 21.05.
- (b) Where an employee is temporarily assigned to a job in a higher salary group and is confirmed in that position, she shall maintain the same rate of pay acquired while on the temporary assignment.

Higher Rates of Pay

21.07 Under certain conditions, of which the Union shall be notified, higher rates than those called for by the salary groups filed with this Agreement may be paid by the Company to individual employees, where in the Company's judgment such rates are appropriate.

Pay Days

21.08 An employee shall be paid through direct deposit every alternate Friday an amount including her basic rate of pay, pay for overtime worked and other additions in pay for the two-week (2) period ending the Saturday previous to the pay day. Pay will be adjusted for unpaid absences which occurred during such two-week (2) period.

ARTICLE 22 DIFFERENTIAL AND PREMIUM PAY

Differential for Work in Off-Normal Period

- **22.01** (a) Where an employee is required to work an off-normal tour, she shall be paid a differential of 75 cents for each hour, or part thereof, which falls within the off-normal period.
- (b) In addition to the payment received under Subsection 22.01 (a), an employee shall be paid an amount of 75 cents for each hour, or part thereof, worked between 12:01 A.M. and 5:59 A.M. on any day.
- **22.02** A differential shall not be paid for:
- (a) the period for which an employee is being paid on an overtime basis,
- (b) paid absence from duty.

Premium Pay for Change in Tour of Duty

- **22.03** (a) If an employee is given less than six (6) days notice of a change in her tour of duty, she shall, except as otherwise provided in Sections 22.05 and 22.06, be paid one-half time extra for time worked outside the tour of duty previously scheduled for the day, but only for the number of days by which the notice given is short of the six (6) day notice requirement.
- (b) If a Part-time employee is given less than six (6) days notice of a requirement to work a tour of duty in addition to her scheduled work week, she shall be paid one-half time extra for such tour of duty, but only for the number of days by which the notice given is short of the six (6) day notice requirement.
- (c) If a Part-time employee has not been given 48 hours notice of the cancellation or reduction of her scheduled hours on any day, she shall be paid at her basic rate of pay, for half of the number of hours so scheduled for that day but cancelled by management.
- **22.04** Where the Company agrees to compensate an employee for premium pay for change in tour of duty by permitting the employee time off from her scheduled hours of work, except as otherwise provided in Sections 22.05 and 22.06, such premium shall be banked on the basis of one-half time (½) extra for time worked outside the tour of duty previously scheduled for the day. When taken, such time off shall be paid at the employee's basic rate of pay. Any such compensating time off shall be subject to the limits and conditions determined by the Company.
- 22.05 Where the change in tour is made at the employee's request, she shall be paid on a straight time basis.

22.06 Where the change in tour is made in accordance with Section 24.05, no premium shall apply for the change in tour.

Premium Pay for Consecutive Saturdays Worked

- **22.07** An employee who is scheduled to work five (5) days per week, or ten (10) days over a two (2) week period, and who, at the direction of the Company, works at least one-half day (3 ¾ hours) on each of successive Saturdays, shall, except as otherwise provided in Section 22.08, be paid one-half (½) time extra for the time worked between midnight Friday and midnight Saturday on the second and subsequent consecutive Saturdays so worked.
- **22.08** This premium shall not be included in wage payments for paid absence from duty, or for any time for which an employee is receiving a rate of pay which, exclusive of tour differentials, is higher than her basic rate of pay.
- **22.09** Where the Company agrees to compensate an employee for consecutive Saturday premium pay by permitting the employee time off from her scheduled hours of work, such premium shall, except as otherwise provided in Section 22.08, be banked on the basis of one-half (½) time extra for the time worked between midnight Friday and midnight Saturday on the second and subsequent consecutive Saturdays so worked. When taken, such time off shall be paid at the employee's basic rate of pay. Any such compensating time off shall be subject to the limits and conditions determined by the Company.

Sunday Premium Pay

- **22.10** An employee who is required to work a scheduled tour, any period of which falls between midnight Saturday and midnight Sunday, shall be paid Sunday Premium Pay. Sunday Premium Pay is one-half (½) time extra for the time worked in this period except that where the employee has not been given 48 hours notice of such work she shall be paid double time for all time worked up to the basic hours of work for that day.
- **22.11** This premium shall not be included in wage payments for paid absence from duty, or for any time for which an employee is receiving a rate of pay which, exclusive of the differentials provided in Section 22.01, and the special compensation provided in Section 22.13, is higher than her basic rate of pay.
- **22.12** Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22.10 and 22.11, where the Company agrees to compensate an employee for the Sunday premium pay by permitting the employee time off from her scheduled hours of work, such premium shall be banked on the basis of one-half $(\frac{1}{2})$ time extra. When taken, such time off shall be paid at the employee's basic rate of pay. Any such compensating time off shall be subject to the limits and conditions determined by the Company

Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve - Special Compensation

- **22.13** Where an employee is required to work on Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve, she shall be paid straight time extra for time worked between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 12:00 Midnight.
- **22.14** Where the Company agrees to compensate an employee for Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve Special Compensation by permitting the employee time off from her scheduled hours of work, such premium shall be banked on the basis of straight time extra for the time worked between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 12:00 Midnight. When taken, such time off shall be paid at the employee's basic rate of pay. Any such compensating time off shall be subject to the limits and conditions determined by the Company.

ARTICLE 23 SENIORITY

- **23.01** The Company recognizes its responsibility to an employee who has a long service record and agrees to give consideration to the length of service of an employee in matters affecting her, including but not limited to: assignment of tour of duty, overtime, vacation, days off, etc., to the extent that in its judgment circumstances will permit, having due regard to Company operations.
- **23.02** Seniority, for the purposes of this Agreement, shall be determined by the net credited service as shown on the Company records.

ARTICLE 24 HOURS OF WORK

Full-time Employees

- 24.01 The basic hours of work per day for a Full-time employee shall be 7 ½ hours.
- **24.02** The basic hours of work per week for a Full-time employee shall be 37 ½ hours on the basis of a five (5) day week. However, the basic hours of work may be distributed over a two-week (2) period on the basis of ten (10) days totalling 75 hours.

Part-time Employees

24.03 The hours of work for employees who are scheduled to work for less than the basic hours shall be determined by the Company. A Temporary Part-Time employee with less than six (6) months net credited service shall be scheduled a minimum of 7.5 hours per week. A Temporary Part-Time employee with more than six (6) months net credited service shall be scheduled a minimum of 11.25 hours per week.

A Regular Part-Time employee shall be scheduled a minimum of 15 hours per week or 30 hours per pay period.

Arrangement and Assignment of Tours of Duty

- 24.04 A tour of duty may be scheduled on any day of the week depending on the requirements of the job.
- **24.05** (a) Where a Full-time employee is required to work on a Sunday, and works her basic hours for that day, whether on a scheduled or non-scheduled basis, such tour of duty shall be considered as part of her scheduled work week.
- (b) Where a Part-time employee is required to work on a Sunday, and works a tour of duty on that day, whether on a scheduled or non-scheduled basis, such tour of duty shall be considered as part of her scheduled work week.

For the purpose of this Subsection, "tour of duty" means the period of time, not exceeding the basic hours of work per day, which a Part-time employee is required to work.

- **24.06** The starting and ending times for all tours of duty shall be determined by the Company.
- **24.07** An employee shall be assigned to her tours of duty by the Company to meet service requirements, due consideration being given to the seniority of the employee in the group.

Meal Period

- **24.08** The meal period for an employee shall not exceed one (1) hour.
- **24.09** A 20 minute meal period shall be counted as time worked where an employee is required to work:
- (a) all or a portion of her regularly scheduled tour of duty in an off-normal period, or
- (b) in the day period on Sunday, if Sunday is included in her scheduled work week, or
- (c) in the day period on a holiday, if the holiday is included in her scheduled work week.

ARTICLE 25 OVERTIME

Overtime Payments, Full-time and Part-time Employees

- **25.01** For a Full-time employee overtime means the time worked:
- (a) in addition to 7 ½ hours of work on any day, or
- (b) on a day outside her scheduled work week.
- **25.02** For a Full-time employee payment for overtime work shall be made:
- (a) at the employee's hourly rate multiplied by one and one-half (1 ½) times the hours worked;
- (b) for overtime worked in excess of four (4) hours in one (1) week, at the employee's hourly rate multiplied by two (2) times the excess hours worked.
- **25.03** A Part-time employee shall be paid on a straight time basis for all time worked:
- (a) on any given day, until she has worked the basic hours of work per day (7 ½ hours), or
- (b) in a given week, until she has worked the basic hours of work per week (37 ½ hours).

Time worked in excess of the basic hours of work specified above shall be paid on an overtime basis.

- **25.04** For a Part-time employee payment for overtime worked shall be made:
- (a) at the employee's hourly rate multiplied by one and one-half (1 ½) times the hours worked, or
- (b) at the employee's hourly rate multiplied by two (2) times the hours worked for overtime worked in excess of four (4) hours in one (1) week, provided the employee has worked the basic hours of work for that week.

- **25.05** Where an employee is required to work overtime which immediately precedes or continues after her tour of duty (continuous), she shall,
- (a) except as otherwise provided in Sections 25.02 and 25.04, be paid for the total additional minutes worked in accordance with the following table:

Minutes Worked	Time Paid For
1 - 5	Nil
6 - 20	½ hr.
21 - 30	¾ hr.
31 - 40	1 hr.
41 - 50	1 ¼ hrs.
51 - 60	1 ½ hrs.
61 - 70	1 ¾ hrs.
71 - 80	2 hrs.
81 - 90	2 ¼ hrs.
91 - 100	2 ½ hrs.
etc.	etc.

and

- (b) where required to work one (1) hour or more of overtime, receive an additional one (1) hour's pay if she has not been given at least one (1) hour's notice of such overtime required.
- **25.06** A meal period shall not be included in the calculation of overtime but shall not break the continuity of such overtime.
- **25.07** Where an employee is required to work two (2) or more hours of continuous overtime, she shall, during those hours, be granted a paid 15 minute relief period.
- **25.08** (a) Where an employee is required to work overtime which does not either immediately precede or continue after her tour of duty (non-continuous), she shall be paid for the total additional minutes worked on an overtime basis.
- (b) If the employee has not been given 48 hours notice of such non-continuous overtime work, she shall receive an additional one (1) hour's pay.
- (c) If the amount to which an employee would be entitled under Subsection 25.08 (a) or (b) is less than 3¾ hours pay, she shall receive a payment of 3¾ hours pay.
- **25.09** Notwithstanding the above provisions of this Article, where the Company agrees to compensate an employee for overtime hours worked by permitting the employee time off from her scheduled hours of work, such time off shall be banked on the basis of one and one-half (1½) hours for each hour of overtime worked. When taken, such time off shall be paid at the employee's basic rate of pay. Any such compensating time off shall be subject to the limits and conditions determined by the Company.

ARTICLE 26 HOLIDAYS

26.01 The following shall be recognized as Company holidays:

New Year's Day
Good Friday
Easter Monday*
Victoria Day (National
Patriot's Day in Québec)
National Holiday
(June 24th - Québec only)
Civic Holiday
(Ontario only)
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day
(Dec. 26th)

Canada Day (July 1st)

- * When an employee is required to work on Easter Monday, it shall not be considered as a Company holiday for that employee. In such event, the employee shall be granted a "Substitute Holiday". The Substitute Holiday shall be scheduled, subject to service requirements, on the first or last day of one (1) of the employee's scheduled work weeks during the period from the first Monday following Easter Monday to October 31st in that same calendar year.
- **26.02** National Holiday (Québec only) and Civic Holiday (Ontario only) are substituted respectively for Remembrance Day.
- **26.03** To meet general custom in a particular community, another holiday may be substituted for any of the recognized Company holidays listed above.
- **26.04** Where a Company holiday falls on a Sunday, the Monday immediately following shall be observed as the holiday.
- **26.05** Where a Company holiday falls on a day Monday to Friday inclusive, it shall be included in the weekly schedule for all employees for that week.
- **26.06** Where a Company holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be observed on the Friday immediately preceding or the Monday immediately following the holiday, as determined by the Company.
- **26.07** Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 26.05 and 26.06, the observance of the Boxing Day holiday shall be in accordance with the following:
- (a) Where Boxing Day falls on a Monday, the Tuesday immediately following shall be observed as the holiday.
- (b) Where Boxing Day falls on a day Tuesday to Friday inclusive, it shall be included in the weekly schedule for all employees for that week.
- (c) Where Boxing Day falls on a Saturday, an employee shall be granted the day off with pay on the Thursday immediately preceding or the Monday immediately following Boxing Day, as determined by the Company.

Pay for Work on a Holiday

- **26.08** (a) Where a Full-time employee is required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she:
- (i) shall be paid at her basic rate of pay for that day, or
- (ii) may be granted a holiday with pay at a time convenient to the employee and the Company, provided the

employee works her basic hours for the day.

- (b) In addition, she shall be paid time and one-half for the time worked between midnight of the day preceding and midnight of the holiday, except for Christmas Day and New Year's Day where she shall be paid double time for the time worked between midnight of the day preceding and midnight of the holiday.
- **26.09** Where a Part-time employee is required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she:
- (a) (i) shall be paid the greater of, not to exceed one-fifth of the basic weekly rate of pay:

10% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the pay period immediately preceding the holiday;

or

5% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the holiday;

or

(ii) may be granted a holiday with pay at a time convenient to the employee and the Company;

and in addition,

- (b) time and one-half for the time worked between midnight of the day preceding and midnight of the holiday, except for Christmas Day and New Year's Day where she shall be paid double time between midnight of the day preceding and midnight of the holiday.
- **26.10** If an employee has not been given 48 hours notice of a requirement to work on a holiday, she shall be paid double time for all time worked up to the basic hours of work for that day, plus one (1) additional hour's pay at straight time.

Pay for Holiday not Worked

- **26.11** Where an employee is not required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she shall be granted the day off with pay, at her basic rate of pay for that day, or if a Part-time employee, the greater of, not to exceed one-fifth of the basic weekly rate of pay:
- (a) 10% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the pay period immediately preceding the holiday;

or

(b) 5% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the holiday.

ARTICLE 27 DAYS OFF WITH PAY

- **27.01** In addition to the holidays provided in Section 26.01, each employee in the employ of the Company on December 1st shall be granted two (2) days off with pay, on days determined by the Company, at her basic rate of pay for the day, or if a Part-time employee, the greater of, not to exceed one-fifth of the basic weekly rate of pay:
- (a) 10% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the pay period immediately preceding the day off with pay;

or

- (b) 5% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the day off with pay.
- **27.02** (a) One (1) of these days off with pay will be scheduled during the period from December 1st to the 15th of January of the following year.
 - (b) (i) One (1) of these days off with pay shall be granted, subject to service requirements, on the first or last day of one (1) of the employee's scheduled work weeks, during the period from December 1st of the current year to November 30th of the following year;

or

(ii) Shall be granted on the employee's birthday during the above-mentioned period;

OI

- (iii) For employees working in Ontario, the Company may grant, subject to service requirements, the day off with pay mentioned in Subsection 27.02 (b)(i) on Family Day.
- **27.03** Where an employee cannot be granted a day off with pay in accordance with the provisions of Section 27.02, she shall be paid on the pay following November 30th, in lieu of the time off, at her basic rate of pay, or if a Part-time employee, the greater of, not to exceed one-fifth of the basic weekly rate of pay:
- (a) 10% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the pay period immediately preceding the day off with pay;

or

(b) 5% of her earnings, excluding overtime and differential payments, for the two (2) pay periods immediately preceding the day off with pay.

Personal Days Off With Pay

- **27.04** In addition to the days off with pay provided in Section 27.01, each Full-time employee with five (5) years or more of net credited service, will be granted four (4) days off with pay for personal needs, at her basic rate of pay for the day. These personal days off with pay will be granted between June 1st of the current year and May 31st of the following year.
- **27.05** These days off with pay shall be granted, subject to service requirements.
- **27.06** Two (2) of these personal days off with pay referred to in Section 27.04 may be used each year, as required, for personal emergencies, during the applicable prescribed period.

ARTICLE 28 VACATION

NOTE:

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article set out below, an employee's entitlement to vacation with pay for a calendar year during which an employee takes a leave of absence with net credited service, shall be as determined by the terms and conditions of the leave.

28.01 An employee shall be entitled to vacation with pay in accordance with the following provisions of this Article.

Entitlement in Year of Engagement or Re-Engagement

28.02 An employee, in the year she is engaged or re-engaged, shall be entitled to one (1) day of vacation with pay for each month of service completed in that calendar year, up to a limit of ten (10) days of vacation with pay.

For purposes of this Section:

- (a) For an employee engaged or re-engaged on or before the fifteenth day of the month, service shall be counted from the first day of that month.
- (b) For an employee engaged or re-engaged on or after the sixteenth day of the month, service shall be counted from the first day of the month following.

Entitlement in Subsequent Years

28.03 An employee, in the years subsequent to her year of engagement or re-engagement, shall first become entitled to a vacation with pay in accordance with the table below, in the year in which she is to complete the required number of years of service. The same entitlement applies to each subsequent year, until a higher entitlement is attained as indicated in the table below:

Years of	Weeks
Net Credited	of
<u>Service</u>	<u>Vacation</u>
1	3*
10	4**
18	5***
25	6

- * Up to two (2) weeks may be granted in the period June through September inclusively.
- ** Up to three (3) weeks may be granted in the period June through September inclusively.
- *** Up to four (4) weeks may be granted in the period June through September inclusively.
- **28.04** In this Article, where a calendar week falls in two (2) months, such calendar week shall be considered to be in the month in which the Wednesday of that week falls. This interpretation shall apply in determining the end of April for scheduling under the provisions of Section 28.05 or rescheduling under the provisions of Section 28.11.
- **28.05** All vacations are for a full calendar year. The vacation for a particular year may be scheduled during the period of January 1st of that year to the end of April of the following year, it being understood that vacation entitlement is determined in accordance with net credited service in the year for which the vacation is given.

28.06 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 28.03, an employee who accumulates less than a full year of net credited service in a calendar year shall be entitled to a vacation with pay for that calendar year as indicated in the table below:

Full Vacation Entitlement Based on Employee's Net Credited Service	3	4	5	6
	weeks	weeks	weeks	weeks
Number of Days Vacation Entitlement for each month during which an employee accumulates 15 or more days of net credited service	1.5	2	2.5	3
	Days	Days	Days	Days
	Per	per	per	per
	month	month	month	month
Maximum Days	15	20	25	30
Vacation for the Year	Days	Days	Days	Days

- **28.07** Where a Company holiday falls on a day of the annual vacation, an employee shall be entitled to an additional day off with pay at a time convenient to the employee and the Company.
- **28.08** Vacation schedules shall be prepared each year by the Company with due consideration to seniority, provided that such schedules shall be arranged as to cause, in the judgment of the Company, the least possible interference with efficient performance of the work and customer needs. However, a Regular employee shall Company be afforded the opportunity to select vacation from the Company's schedule before a Temporary employee. In general, vacations shall commence at the beginning of the calendar week unless the demands of the work make this impossible.
- **28.09** (a) An employee shall not have the right to carry forward all or part of her vacation from one (1) vacation period to another, or to take vacation entitlement applicable to two (2) calendar years consecutively.
- (b) However, where in the judgment of the Company, circumstances permit, having due regard to Company operations, employee requests to take vacation entitlement applicable to two (2) calendar years consecutively may be granted.
- **28.10** "Vacation Period" for the purposes of this Article shall mean the period of January 1st of one year to the end of April of the following year.
- **28.11** Where an employee is taken ill or meets with an accident before leaving work on the last day of work preceding the vacation, and is prevented from taking the vacation, the Company may reschedule the vacation at a later date in the calendar year for which the vacation is given or by the end of April of the following year.
- **28.12** An employee shall be paid during vacation at her basic rate of pay determined in accordance with Company practice; but
- (a) in the year she is engaged or re-engaged, vacation pay shall not be less than 4% of her total earnings in the entire period of current service in the calendar year for which the vacation is given;
- (b) in the years subsequent to her year of engagement or re-engagement, vacation pay shall not be less than 2% of her basic pay in the calendar year for which the vacation is given, for each week of vacation,

and in addition.

(i) if the employee has less than six (6) years net credited service she shall also receive 4% on any difference between her total earnings in the calendar year for which the vacation is given and her basic pay for the calendar year;

10

(ii) if an employee has six (6) or more years net credited service she shall also receive 6% on any difference between her total earnings in the calendar year for which the vacation is given and her basic pay for the calendar year.

Pay in Lieu of Vacation

- 28.13 An employee shall be entitled to pay in lieu of vacation in accordance with the following Sections.
- **28.14** Where an employee resigns, is laid off, is dismissed or has completed her work, she shall be granted pay in lieu of vacation for the current calendar year, calculated in the manner provided in Sections 28.15 to 28.17 inclusive.
- **28.15** An employee, with less than one (1) year's net credited service or in the year she is engaged or reengaged, shall be granted 4% of her total earnings in the entire period of current service, reduced by the amount of the pay applicable to any part of a vacation taken by the employee during the same period of service.
- **28.16** An employee with one (1) or more years of net credited service in the years subsequent to her year of engagement or re-engagement, shall be granted pay in lieu of vacation in accordance with the following:

Vacation Entitlement Based on Employee's Net Credited Service	Pay in Lieu of Vacation Based on Total Basic Pay for the Year to which the Vacation Applies
3 weeks	6%
4 weeks	8%
5 weeks	10%
6 weeks	12%

and in addition,

(i) if the employee has less than six (6) years net credited service she shall also receive 4% on any difference between her total earnings in the calendar year for which the vacation is given and her basic pay for the calendar year;

or

- (ii) if an employee has six (6) or more years net credited service she shall also receive 6% on any difference between her total earnings in the calendar year for which the vacation is given and her basic pay for the calendar year.
- **28.17** The amount of pay in lieu of vacation to be granted in accordance with Section 28.16 shall be reduced by the amount of the pay applicable to any part of a vacation for the current calendar year taken by the employee before she left the Company's service.

ARTICLE 29 SICKNESS ABSENCE

Absence Due to Sickness or Quarantine Prior to the Eighth Full Calendar Day of Absence

- **29.01** An employee having six (6) months net credited service, or more, who is absent on account of sickness or quarantine, shall be paid for continuous absence prior to the eighth full calendar day of such absence, as follows:
- (a) An employee with six (6) months but less than two (2) years net credited service shall be paid for that part of the absence in excess of four (4) consecutive half tours.
- (b) An employee with two (2) but less than four (4) years net credited service shall be paid for that part of the absence in excess of two (2) consecutive half tours.
- (c) In the determination of pay treatment in Subsections 29.01 (a) and (b), a return to work not exceeding two (2) half tours shall not be considered to have interrupted the continuity of the absence, nor the consecutiveness of the half tours of absence. However, for purposes of determining the eighth full calendar day of absence, any return to work shall interrupt the continuity of an absence.
- (d) An employee with four (4) or more years net credited service shall be paid for the full absence.
- (e) An employee is not entitled to any pay or other benefit provided under this Article for any day in which she is in receipt of, or entitled to, any pay or other benefit under any other provision of this Agreement.

Absence Due to Sickness or Quarantine on or after the Eighth Full Calendar Day of Absence

29.02 Upon the eighth full calendar day of an absence covered under Section 29.01, such an absence shall be treated in accordance with applicable Company practices currently in effect, or as amended from time to time following notification to the Union.

ARTICLE 30 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- **30.01** An employee shall be granted, in the event of the death of her spouse, common-law partner, or child, bereavement leave of up to five (5) days with pay from her scheduled tours of duty that occur during the five (5) days immediately following the day of death. The term common-law partner includes same-sex partner.
- **30.02** An employee shall be granted bereavement leave of up to three (3) days with pay from her scheduled tours of duty that occur during the five (5) days immediately following the day of death, in the event of the death of:
 - her father, her mother, the spouse or common-law partner of her father or mother
 - her brother, her sister
 - the father or mother of her spouse or common-law partner or the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother
 - a dependant or other relative residing in the same permanent residence as does the employee
 - the child of her spouse or common-law partner.
 - her son in-law or daughter in-law or the son in-law or daughter in-law of her spouse or common-law partner.

- **30.03** The Company may extend the periods of bereavement leave provided for in Sections 30.01 and 30.02 to a maximum of five (5) days with pay from her scheduled tours of duty that occur during the seven (7) days immediately following the day of death, when it is necessary for the employee to leave the city in which she is employed.
- **30.04** An employee shall be granted, in the event of the death of her grandparent or grandchild, bereavement leave of up to three (3) days with pay from her scheduled tours of duty that occur during the five (5) days immediately following the day of death.
- **30.05** Bereavement leave may be required outside the period specified in Sections 30.01 to 30.04. In such circumstances, the Company may grant a request to defer the leave.

ARTICLE 31 TRAVEL TIME AND EXPENSES

- **31.01** Where an employee is required to travel on Company instructions outside her normal headquarters, the time spent travelling outside of her tour of duty shall be considered as travel time; except that, when sleeping accommodation is provided en route, the period of time between 10:00 P.M. of one day and 7:00 A.M. of the following day shall not be considered as travel time.
- **31.02** Where an employee is required by the Company to travel to a work location other than her normal work location, inside her normal headquarters on a temporary basis, the portion of time spent travelling outside of her tour of duty, which exceeds by 15 minutes or more, per one way trip, the time normally spent travelling to her normal work location, will be considered as travel time within the meaning of this Article.
- **31.03** Where an employee is required by the Company to travel to another work location within the same headquarters on a permanent basis, she shall be paid the portion of time spent travelling outside of her tour of duty in accordance with the provisions of Section 31.02 for the days worked during a period of 60 days immediately following the change of work location.
- **31.04** Travel time shall include unavoidable stop-over time between connections and shall be paid for on a straight time basis.

Transportation Expenses

- **31.05** The Company shall pay the necessary transportation expenses incurred on the job within or between headquarters.
- **31.06** Where an employee is required to work outside her headquarters, the Company shall pay approved transportation expenses once every week to and from her headquarters, provided her absence will not interfere with the job.

Board and Lodging

- **31.07** Where an employee is required to work outside her headquarters and to remain away from home overnight, she shall be paid approved board and lodging expense.
- **31.08** An employee who takes sick or meets with an accident while receiving board and lodging from the Company, may be returned to her headquarters at the expense of the Company.

ARTICLE 32 NORTHERN SERVICE

Definitions

- **32.01** The following definitions shall apply to this Article:
- (a) "Northern Allowance" means a flat rate weekly amount payable by the Company to employees working in a Northern Locality. This amount is in addition to the basic rate of pay and any premiums or differentials as provided for elsewhere in this Agreement.
- (b) "Northern Locality" means any locality designated as such by the Company and includes Kuujjuaq as well as all other locations the Company may designate as such during the term of this Agreement.

General

32.02 The weekly Northern Allowance payable to an employee shall be in accordance with the following:

Category of	
Northern	Weekly
<u>Locality</u>	<u>Allowance</u>
Α	\$175
В	\$150

- **32.03** Category "A" Northern Localities are those situated north of the 55th parallel of latitude and without limiting the number of the foregoing includes Kuujjuaq.
- **32.04** Category "B" Northern Localities are those situated below the 55th parallel of latitude.
- **32.05** Northern Allowance shall continue to be paid to non-local employees while they are on vacation, but only for each week of vacation actually spent in the Northern Locality. A non-local employee is an employee hired in a location other than the Northern Locality in which she is headquartered.

ARTICLE 33 TRANSFERS

33.01 All employees are eligible for transfer consideration in accordance with applicable Company practices currently in force, or as amended from time to time following consultation with the Union. The Company intends to fill job vacancies with qualified Company employees, whenever possible.

Job Postings - Temporary Assignments

- **33.02** Where there is a temporary assignment of 3 months or more but less than 12 months, except as otherwise provided in section 33.06, the District shall inform all its employees electronically that a temporary assignment is available.
- **33.03** The Company will select the qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) a regular employee who has a 912M surplus or medical on file in the service (same VP);
 - (ii) any other regular employee in the district;
 - (iii) a temporary employee in the district.

- **33.04** Should there be no qualified candidate in the district, the temporary assignment shall then be posted corporately.
- **33.05** The Company will select the qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) an employee with a 912M with eight (8) years or more of completed NCS and who is on salary continuance;
 - (ii) an employee with a 912M who has less than eight (8) years of completed NCS and who is on salary continuance;
 - (iii) an employee with a 912M (surplus) who is within her notice period or an employee who has a 912M (medical) on file;
 - (iv) any other Bell Canada unionized person who has a 912M surplus or medical on file;
 - (v) a permanent employee in the service (same VP);
 - (vi) a temporary employee;
 - (vii) any other Bell Canada unionized person;
 - (viii) any other person.
- **33.06** Notwithstanding the provisions of section 33.02, temporary assignments may last longer than 12 months when the assignment is for the:
 - (i) replacement of a maternity leave
 - (ii) replacement of a medical leave;
 - (iii) assignment to a special project for which the Company informed the Union beforehand of the details of the project.

Job Postings - Permanent Positions

- **33.07** Where the District determines there is a permanent vacancy, or when a temporary assignment becomes permanent, the District shall inform its employees electronically that a permanent position is available.
- **33.08** The Company will select the qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) a regular employee who has a 912M surplus or medical on file in the service (same VP);
 - (ii) any other regular employee in the district;
 - (iii) a temporary employee in the district.
- **33.09** Should there be no qualified candidate in the district, the position must then be posted corporately.
- **33.10** The Company will select the qualified applicant in the following order:
 - (i) an employee with a 912M with eight (8) years or more of completed NCS and who is on salary continuance;

- (ii) an employee with a 912M who has less than eight (8) years of completed NCS and who is on salary continuance;
- (iii) an employee with a 912M (surplus) who is within her notice period or an employee who has a 912M (medical) on file;
- (iv) any other Bell Canada unionized person who has a 912M surplus or medical on file;
- (v) a regular employee
- (vi) a temporary employee;
- (vii) any other Bell Canada Unionized person;
- (viii) any other person.

General

- **33.11** Before posting a position, the District must call back any employee on its recall list that is qualified to do the job.
- **33.12** The best qualified employee amongst the candidates will be selected to fill the temporary assignment or the vacancy. For equally qualified candidates, the employee with the most seniority will be selected.
- **33.13** In order to be considered for a position, an employee must meet the eligibility criteria related to transfers across districts which can be amended from time to time.
- **33.14** (a) The posting must include the job profile and wage band, the location as well as an overview of the position responsibilities and the qualifications deemed essential for the job. Temporary assignments must also include the start and end date of the assignment.
 - (b) Jobs must be posted for a minimum of 10 calendar days.
- (c) A copy of the job posting must be provided simultaneously to the representatives included on the Union's distribution list.
- **33.15** The Company has complete discretion and final determination in the selection of the employee.
- **33.16** Upon request, an employee who was interviewed but was not selected for a position shall receive feedback as to the reasons why she was not selected.
- **33.17** Any differences concerning this Article may be discussed at the Joint Labour Relations Committee.

ARTICLE 34 WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

- **34.01** (a) The Company and the Union recognize the importance of achieving equity in the workplace so that all employees are treated fairly and are provided the opportunity to achieve their full potential.
- (b) The implementation of special measures and the accommodation of differences to correct conditions of disadvantage in employment, may be required, for: women, aboriginal peoples, persons with disabilities and members of visible minorities. In a similar vein, the Company and the Union recognize the importance of creating greater awareness and acceptance of the diversity of the workforce.

ARTICLE 35 COST OF LIVING ALLOWANCE

Not in Force for Term of Present Collective Agreement:

- **35.01** If the November 1993 Consumer Price Index (C.P.I.) exceeds the C.P.I. for November 1992 by more than 3.0%, then all basic rates of pay in effect at January 31, 1994 will be increased effective in February 1994 by a percentage figure equal to the difference between the percentage increase in the C.P.I. and 3.0%.
- **35.02** If the November 1994 Consumer Price Index (C.P.I.) exceeds the C.P.I. for November 1993 by more than 2.0%, then all basic rates of pay in effect at January 31, 1995 will be increased effective in February 1995 by a percentage figure equal to the difference between the percentage increase in the C.P.I. and 2.0%.
- **35.03** The C.P.I. used for purposes of this Article shall be the C.P.I. Canada All Items (1986=100) as published by Statistics Canada or any successor Department or Agency.
- **35.04** Should the C.P.I. be amended or discontinued prior to January 1995, the parties agree to consult to determine a means to give effect to the intention of this Article.

ARTICLE 36 BENEFITS

- **36.01** The Company agrees to review with the Union, prior to its implementation, any change in the level of benefits provided to employees covered by this Agreement under the following:
 - the Pension Plan
 - the health, life and accident insurance coverage under the Omniflex Benefits Program
 - the Disability Plans.

ARTICLE 37 VALIDITY OF AGREEMENT

37.01 In the event of any provision of this Agreement or of any of the practices established hereby being or being held to be contrary to the provisions of any applicable law now or hereafter enacted, this Agreement shall not be nor be deemed to be abrogated but shall be amended so as to make it conform to the requirements of any such law.

ARTICLE 38 CANCELLATION OF PREVIOUS AGREEMENT

38.01 This Agreement, from its effective date, supersedes and cancels the Collective Agreement between the Company and the Union, applying to employees as defined in Article 3 and dated the 1st day of June 2013.

ARTICLE 39 DURATION

- **39.01** This Agreement shall be effective on the date of ratification except as otherwise herein provided, and shall remain in full force and effect up to and including November 30, 2021.
- **39.02** This Agreement, unless terminated at the expiry of the said term by written notice given by either party to the other at least 60 days prior to the expiry of the said term, shall continue in full force and effect thereafter until terminated at any time by at least 60 days prior written notice given by either party to the other.
- **39.03** Notice to terminate under this Article shall be effectively given if addressed by the Company to the President of Unifor, 205 Placer Court, Toronto, Ontario M2H 3H9. or by the Union to the Secretary, Bell Canada, 1 carrefour Alexander Graham Bell, Tour A-7, Verdun, Quebec, H3E 3B3 and in either case is received at least sixty (60) days prior to the termination date specified therein.

WITNESS CLAUSE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives this 19th day of April 2018.

Bell Canada	Unifor
Serge Thibault Steve Desgagné Benoit Desjardins Derek Leno James Wilson	Josephine Petcher Olivier Carrière Steve Couillard Véronique Figliuzzi Derek MacLeod Bobby Pearsall Hugues Perreault Simone Sladkowski

APPENDIX A

LIST OF CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED OCCUPATIONS

SALARY GROUP 10

Associate -

Access Card
Administrative Support
Contract Management
Collection Support
Counting Room
Directory Assistance
Information Processing
Mail & Office Routines

Quality Assurance Personal Screening

Research

Service Outage Support

Tape Library

Time/HR Administrator

Client Representative -

Repair

Residential Services Revenue Recovery and

Assets Protection - Residential

Markets

Sales and Service Support

SALARY GROUP 11

Associate -

9-1-1

Account Receivable Management

Billing

Budget & Financial Results

Carrier Transactions

Claims

Communications

Human Resources Transaction Management

Material

Payments and Settlements PC Management Services

Presence at Work Procurement Right of Way Street Guide Web Assistance

Client Representative -

Accounts Payable

Directory Listing

Regional Representation

Resolution Representatives

Revenue Recovery and

Assets Protection - Business Markets

Service Assurance Business Markets

Specialist Consumer Market

APPENDIX A

LIST OF CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED OCCUPATIONS (cont'd)

SALARY GROUP 12

Associate -

Bankruptcy and Third Party Leasing (Business) Control Center Control Center Administrative Support Corporate Financial Results & Reports Cost Analysis Creative and Artistic Design Services Data Analysis Disability Management/ Workplace Injury **Documentation Management** Front Office Network Access Recruitment Reference Material **Talent Acquisition** Traffic Studies Transfer Management Service Coordination Supply Chain Network Administration Workforce Controller

Client Representative -

Carrier Services
Corporate Account Management
Customer Solutions Bell Business
Markets
Customized Billing Solutions Agent
Large Business and Government Markets
On-line Reporting and Billing Expertise
Agent
Service Assurance Escalation
Representative Business Markets
Service Consultant
Small & Medium Business Markets

APPENDIX A

LIST OF CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED OCCUPATIONS (cont'd)

SALARY GROUP 13

Associate -

Complaints to CRTC and CCTS
Computer Support
Circuit Design
Design and Draw Detailed
Engineering
Fraud
Municipal Operations Center
Network Administration

Network Administration
Network Deployment
Network Management
Network Resource
Management Forecasting
Network Surveillance
Network Project Administration
Network Studies
Payroll

Provisioning and Activation

Client Representative -

BBM Market Customer Agent Service Consultant
Customer Agent - Enterprise Market
Global Service Delivery Centre
Help Desk / Escalation
Independent Telcos
Legal Affairs Support
Project Coordination
SMB Mid Market

SALARY GROUP 14

Associate -

Quality Audit

Access Network Conception Computer Applications Support Trainer - Coach Legal Compliance Project/Process Delivery Switching Translations

Client Representative -

Business Market Operations

OTHER SALARY GROUPS

Associate -

Access Network Coordinator

APPENDIX B

LIST OF LOCALITIES

Barrie Newmarket North Bay

Belleville

Brampton Oshawa Brantford Owen Sound Brockville Ottawa

Peterborough Châteauguay Chatham Port Hope

Chicoutimi

Cornwall Québec

Fort-Frances

Gatineau Renfrew

Gracefield

Granby Saint-Bruno Saint-Catharines Haliburton Saint-Jérôme

Hamilton Sainte-Agathe Sarnia Huntsville

Sault Ste. Marie Sherbrooke Sudbury

Kenora

Kingston

Kitchener **Thetford Mines** Thunder Bay Kuujjuaq Toronto

Lindsay

Trois-Rivières London

Montréal Windsor

HOURLY AND BI-WEEKLY BASIC RATES OF PAY BY SALARY GROUP

EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2017

1.75%	Salary C	Group 10	Salary G	Group 11	Salary C	Group 12	Salary C	Group 13	Salary C	Group 14	Profil	e 204
Step	Hourly	Bi-weekly										
1	\$16.3785	\$1 228.39	\$20.0643	\$1 504.82	\$24.0725	\$1 805.44	\$28.0807	\$2 106.05	\$30.7647	\$2 307.35	\$35.2291	\$2 642.18
2	\$17.3804	\$1 303.53	\$21.0664	\$1 579.98	\$25.0744	\$1 880.58	\$29.0827	\$2 181.20	\$31.7667	\$2 382.50	\$37.4517	\$2 808.88
3	\$18.5853	\$1 393.90	\$22.0684	\$1 655.13	\$26.0764	\$1 955.73	\$30.0967	\$2 257.25	\$32.7687	\$2 457.65	\$40.0447	\$3 003.35
4	\$19.7900	\$1 484.25	\$23.0704	\$1 730.28	\$27.0787	\$2 030.90	\$31.0988	\$2 332.41	\$33.7707	\$2 532.80		
5	\$21.0664	\$1 579.98	\$24.0725	\$1 805.44	\$28.0807	\$2 106.05	\$32.1007	\$2 407.55	\$34.7728	\$2 607.96		
6	\$22.7365	\$1 705.24	\$25.8141	\$1 936.06	\$29.8939	\$2 242.04	\$33.3652	\$2 502.39	\$36.1088	\$2 708.16		

HOURLY AND BI-WEEKLY BASIC RATES OF PAY BY SALARY GROUP

EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2018

1.75%	Salary C	Froup 10	Salary G	Froup 11	Salary C	Group 12	Salary C	Group 13	Salary (Group 14	Profil	e 204
Step	Hourly	Bi-weekly										
1	\$16.6651	\$1 249.88	\$20.4153	\$1 531.15	\$24.4937	\$1 837.03	\$28.5721	\$2 142.91	\$31.3031	\$2 347.73	\$35.8456	\$2 688.42
2	\$17.6847	\$1 326.35	\$21.4351	\$1 607.63	\$25.5133	\$1 913.50	\$29.5916	\$2 219.37	\$32.3225	\$2 424.19	\$38.1071	\$2 858.03
3	\$18.9105	\$1 418.29	\$22.4547	\$1 684.10	\$26.5328	\$1 989.96	\$30.6233	\$2 296.75	\$33.3421	\$2 500.66	\$40.7455	\$3 055.91
4	\$20.1363	\$1 510.22	\$23.4741	\$1 760.56	\$27.5525	\$2 066.44	\$31.6429	\$2 373.22	\$34.3616	\$2 577.12		_
5	\$21.4351	\$1 607.63	\$24.4937	\$1 837.03	\$28.5721	\$2 142.91	\$32.6624	\$2 449.68	\$35.3812	\$2 653.59		
6	\$23.1344	\$1 735.08	\$26.2659	\$1 969.94	\$30.4169	\$2 281.27	\$33.9491	\$2 546.18	\$36.7408	\$2 755.56		

HOURLY AND BI-WEEKLY BASIC RATES OF PAY BY SALARY GROUP

EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2019

2.00%	Salary G	Group 10	Salary G	Froup 11	Salary C	Group 12	Salary C	Group 13	Salary C	Group 14	Profil	e 204
Step	Hourly	Bi-weekly										
1	\$16.9984	\$1 274.88	\$20.8237	\$1 561.78	\$24.9836	\$1 873.77	\$29.1436	\$2 185.77	\$31.9291	\$2 394.68	\$36.5625	\$2 742.19
2	\$18.0383	\$1 352.87	\$21.8637	\$1 639.78	\$26.0235	\$1 951.76	\$30.1835	\$2 263.76	\$32.9689	\$2 472.67	\$38.8692	\$2 915.19
3	\$19.2887	\$1 446.65	\$22.9037	\$1 717.78	\$27.0635	\$2 029.76	\$31.2359	\$2 342.69	\$34.0089	\$2 550.67	\$41.5604	\$3 117.03
4	\$20.5391	\$1 540.43	\$23.9436	\$1 795.77	\$28.1036	\$2 107.77	\$32.2759	\$2 420.69	\$35.0489	\$2 628.67		_
5	\$21.8637	\$1 639.78	\$24.9836	\$1 873.77	\$29.1436	\$2 185.77	\$33.3156	\$2 498.67	\$36.0889	\$2 706.67		
6	\$23.5971	\$1 769.78	\$26.7912	\$2 009.34	\$31.0253	\$2 326.90	\$34.6280	\$2 597.10	\$37.4756	\$2 810.67		

HOURLY AND BI-WEEKLY BASIC RATES OF PAY BY SALARY GROUP

EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 1, 2020

2.00%	Salary G	Group 10	Salary G	Froup 11	Salary G	Froup 12	Salary C	Group 13	Salary C	Group 14	Profil	e 204
Step	Hourly	Bi-weekly										
1	\$17.3384	\$1 300.38	\$21.2401	\$1 593.01	\$25.4833	\$1 911.25	\$29.7264	\$2 229.48	\$32.5676	\$2 442.57	\$37.2937	\$2 797.03
2	\$18.3991	\$1 379.93	\$22.3009	\$1 672.57	\$26.5440	\$1 990.80	\$30.7871	\$2 309.03	\$33.6284	\$2 522.13	\$39.6467	\$2 973.50
3	\$19.6745	\$1 475.59	\$23.3619	\$1 752.14	\$27.6047	\$2 070.35	\$31.8605	\$2 389.54	\$34.6892	\$2 601.69	\$42.3916	\$3 179.37
4	\$20.9499	\$1 571.24	\$24.4225	\$1 831.69	\$28.6656	\$2 149.92	\$32.9213	\$2 469.10	\$35.7499	\$2 681.24		_
5	\$22.3009	\$1 672.57	\$25.4833	\$1 911.25	\$29.7264	\$2 229.48	\$33.9820	\$2 548.65	\$36.8107	\$2 760.80		
6	\$24.0691	\$1 805.18	\$27.3269	\$2 049.52	\$31.6459	\$2 373.44	\$35.3207	\$2 649.05	\$38.2251	\$2 866.88		

APPENDIX D

ACHIEVEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN

The Achievement Incentive Plan (AIP) recognizes the contribution of eligible employees to overall Company performance using criteria that the Company determines as appropriate measures of success measured against two (2) criteria: financial results and customer satisfaction.

The plan, designed by the Company and set out in its practices is subject to modification to better reflect evolving business structure, goals and strategies. The Company agrees that the Bargaining Committees will be informed of any changes to the plan prior to their implementation.

Annual compensation under the Achievement Incentive Plan for achieving target results will be 5.5% of basic rates of pay for the years 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020.

APPENDIX E

WORKING CONDITIONS FOR NEW TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

The following working conditions shall be applicable to Temporary employees with less than six (6) months of net credited service. These conditions apply in lieu of normal provisions within the Collective Agreement. All other Articles of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement will apply.

1) Overtime

• Time and one-half after 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week.

2) Holidays

 Payment for a holiday not worked, if the employee has worked a minimum of 15 days in the 30 days immediately preceding the holiday, as per Section 26.11 of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

3) <u>Differentials and Premiums</u>

* Payment of differentials and premiums is not applicable.

4) Sickness Absence

* All rights under the applicable legislation for work-related illness or injury apply.

APPENDIX E

WORKING CONDITIONS FOR NEW TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES (cont'd)

5) Bereavement Leave

- For employees with less than three (3) consecutive months of continuous employment, entitlement to unpaid bereavement leave on any normal working days that occur during the three (3) days immediately following the day of the death of an immediate family member.
- For employees with three (3) consecutive months or more of continuous employment, entitlement to paid bereavement leave on any normal working days that occur during the three (3) days immediately following the day of the death of an immediate family member.
- Immediate family is defined as:
 - (a) the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (b) the employee's father and mother and the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother;
 - (c) the employee's children and the children of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
 - (d) the employee's grandchildren;
 - (e) the employee's brothers and sisters;
 - (f) the grandfather and grandmother of the employee;
 - (g) the father and mother of the spouse or common-law partner of the employee and the spouse or common-law partner of the father and mother; and
 - (h) any relative of the employee who resides permanently with the employee or with whom the employee permanently resides.

Note: The term common-law partner includes same-sex partner.

6) <u>Termination Notice</u>

- Employees with less than three (3) consecutive months of continuous employment are entitled to one (1) week notice or pay in lieu of notice upon termination.
- Employees with three (3) consecutive months of continuous employment are entitled to two (2) weeks notice or pay in lieu of notice upon termination.

APPENDIX F

RATES OF PAY FOR TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES HIRED ON A SEASONAL BASIS

The rates of pay for Temporary employees hired on a seasonal basis, for a period of employment not expected to exceed six (6) months, shall be the following:

	SALARY GROUP 10	SALARY GROUP 11	SALARY GROUP 12	SALARY GROUP 13	SALARY GROUP 14
	Hourly Rate	Hourly Rate	Hourly Rate	Hourly Rate	Hourly Rate
Jan 1, 2018	\$14.00	\$14.50	\$15.00	\$16.00	\$18.00
Jan 1, 2019	\$15.00	\$15.50	\$16.00	\$17.00	\$19.00
Jan 1, 2020	\$15.50	\$16.00	\$16.50	\$17.50	\$19.50
Jan 1, 2021	\$16.00	\$16.50	\$17.50	\$18.00	\$20.00

Should the period of employment of those employees unexpectedly reach six (6) months, or the employee accumulates six (6) months of net credited service, the salary rate shall be brought, according to Company practices, to the appropriate salary group as described in Appendix C of this Collective Agreement.

The months accumulated since the last date of hiring shall be credited to the employee for purposes of future salary increases.

The above-mentioned salary rates shall be reviewed with the Union on an annual basis, or more frequently if required, on a consultative basis, in order to ensure that the hourly rates remain competitive.

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Memoranda of Agreement	Page
Averaging of Maximum Hours of Work	46
Bell ExpressVu Employee Integration	47
Compressed Work Week and Averaging of Hours of Work	50
Company's Position on Outstanding Grievances Related to Performance Management	58
Employee Reclassifications	59
Fact Finding Meetings	60
Home Dispatch	61
Joint Labour Relations Committee	63
Managerial or Non-Management Non-Unionized Job Postings	65
Mental Health	66
Outsourcing / Contracting Out	67
Paid Education Leave	69
Performance Management	70
Profiles	71
Regular Full-Time Opportunities	73
Restrictions on Co-Located Contractors	74
Security Interviews	75
Site Consolidations	76
Split Shift for Teleworking	77
Violence or Abuse in Personal Life	78
Visual Display Terminal	79
Voluntary Programs of Reduced Hours	81
Women Union Support Advocate	83
Workforce Adjustment Plan	84

AVERAGING OF MAXIMUM HOURS OF WORK MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN: BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement with respect to the averaging of maximum hours of work for Clerical and Associated Employees.

The provisions related to Hours of Work and Overtime shall be those contained in the Collective Agreement currently in force between the parties, except where such conditions are governed by the Provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement.

The averaging of maximum hours of work outlined in this Agreement applies to all the Company's industrial establishments or premises and to all employees covered by this Collective Agreement, notwithstanding their work location.

The averaging of maximum hours of work outlined in this Agreement will allow the Company to ensure optimal allocation of resources to effectively respond to unforeseen, as well as regular fluctuations in workload, thus allowing the Company to best meet its operations and business requirements as well as customers' and employees' needs.

The parties agree that the averaging of maximum hours of work will be based on a 13 week period. The maximum hours of work of an employee shall not exceed 624 hours over a 13 week period.

In circumstances other than those described above, the relevant provisions of the Canada Labour Code continue to apply.

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the term of this Collective Agreement.

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

BELL EXPRESSVU LP EMPLOYEE INTEGRATION MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

WHEREAS the Board has rendered Order numbers 10986-U, 11004-U, 11042-U declaring that:

- a) Unifor is a trade union within the meaning of the *Code* and the certified bargaining agent of the following employees:
 - a. All employees of Bell ExpressVu LP working as call center representatives (including technical support), operation support associates, administrative support, blueprint programmers, excluding trainers and quality assurance employees;
 - All employees of Bell ExpressVu LP working at its call centers in Ontario excluding learning and communications support employees (including trainers and blueprint programmers), Control center employees (including operations support and compensation) and call center support employees (including back office);
 - c. All trainers of Bell ExpressVu LP working in the province of Ontario;

AND WHEREAS the Bell clerical and associated employees are covered by a collective agreement with Unifor (the "Bell Clerical Collective Agreement");

AND WHEREAS the Bell Clerical Collective Agreement contains provisions, namely the Memorandum of Agreement – Outsourcing/Contracting Out that apply to all Regular employees covered by the clerical and associated employees' bargaining;

AND WHEREAS the parties have agreed to enter into this Memorandum of Agreement ("the Agreement") under section 18.1(2) of the Code to govern the integration of Bell ExpressVu LP employees into Bell;

NOW THEREFORE THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The Preamble is an integral part of this Agreement.
- The parties agree that they shall request the Board to cancel the separate certification orders of Bell ExpressVu LP employees by June 1, 2018. After June 1, 2018, the Bell ExpressVu LP employees will be fully integrated into Bell clerical bargaining unit as described below.

General

- The parties agree that no modification to the wording of the Bell clerical certification orders is necessary
 to integrate the Bell ExpressVu LP employees into the existing Bell clerical certification order as set out
 above.
- 4. The Company agrees that, employees of Bell ExpressVu LP that perform the following functions will also be transferred into the Bell Canada Clerical and Associated Employees Bargaining unit:
 - a. Trainers and quality assurance employees located in Dorval;

b. Communications support employees (including trainers and blueprint programmers), Control center employees (including operations support and compensation) and call center support employees (including back office) located in the province of Ontario.

(A) Collective Agreement

- 5. The Bell ExpressVu employees are currently not covered by a collective agreement.
- 6. It is agreed and understood that Bell ExpressVu LP employees at the employ of Bell ExpressVu LP at the date of ratification of the Collective agreement will receive the percentage of the first salary increase negotiated for the Clerical and Associate Employees, effective on the same date.
- 7. The Company will proceed with the transfer of the Bell ExpressVu LP employees into the Bell Clerical bargaining unit thirty (30) days after the date of the ratification of the Collective agreement.
- 8. The Bell ExpressVu LP employees will be transferred on profile BEV, in salary group 10, at their Bell ExpressVu LP rate of pay at the time of the transfer and at the next lowest step closest to their rate of pay at the time of the transfer.
 - a. The Bell ExpressVu LP rate of pay will be protected (red circled), and;
 - b. All other working conditions of the Bell Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement will apply.
- 9. It is agreed and understood that between the date of ratification of the Bell Clerical and Associated Employees Collective Agreement and the date of transfer, Bell ExpressVu LP employees will be covered by the normative articles of the Bell Clerical and Associated Employees Collective Agreement (including union time, grievance and arbitration procedures, seniority, days off and vacation).
- 10. It is agreed and understood that of a job evaluation process will need to be completed by the Company between the date of transfer and September 30th 2018, to identify the equivalent position and salary group in the Bell Canada Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement, in accordance with Section 21.05 of said Collective Agreement and Company practices. The rate of pay shall be the rate on the salary group of the new job which grants the closest higher rate on December 1, 2018.
- 11. If on December 1st, 2018 the Bell ExpressVu LP employees' rate of pay is higher than the maximum rate in the salary group to which they are assigned, their salary will be protected until the maximum rate of pay in the salary group is equal to or higher than the employees' rate of pay at the time of integration. Said employees will be entitled to a lump sum payment in accordance with the Bell Canada Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement, as applicable.
- 12. It is agreed and understood that Bell ExpressVu LP employees transferred to Bell Canada will be protected under the Bell Canada Clerical and Associated Employees' Memorandum of Agreement on Outsourcing / Contracting Out under the same terms of that said Memorandum of Agreement.
- 13. The parties agree and understand that the purpose of the integration is to ensure that the Bell ExpressVu LP employees and the Bell clerical employee operate as one bargaining unit indistinctly.

(B) Orders Sought from the Board

- 14. The parties agree that they will jointly file a request, on or around May 15, 2018 for the Board to:
 - (a) Cancel the certification orders 10986-U, 11004-U, 11042-U;

- (b) Declare that Bell ExpressVu LP employees, and now Bell as the successor employer, as described in the Board's certification orders no. 10986-U, 11004-U, 11042-U, are included in the Bell certification order no. 9413-U;
- (c) Declare that the Bell clerical Collective Agreement will apply to the group of employees described in Board Orders no. 10986-U, 11004-U, 11042-U, with the adjustments set out in Section (B) above;
- 15. The parties will request that the orders sought under this Agreement be determined by the Board without an oral hearing and agree that the orders take effect as of the date of their issuance.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	

COMPRESSED WORK WEEK AND AVERAGING OF HOURS OF WORK

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement with respect to the implementation of compressed work week schedules and related averaging of hours of work for Full-time employees covered by the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

Effective Period

Subject to the Company's right to discontinue the compressed work week schedule and related averaging of hours of work, this Memorandum of Agreement will come into effect on March 7, 2018 and will remain in force during the term of the Collective Agreement.

This Memorandum will apply to all Bell Canada's industrial establishments or premises where Full-time employees exercise their occupations as per Appendix B of the Collective Agreement.

Approval

Approval to implement a compressed work week schedule in any part of the Company's operations may be granted by local management in accordance with departmental directives based on business requirements and customers' needs. It is understood that the compressed work week must provide advantages and benefits to the Company and the employees for it to be implemented and maintained in a group. Employee participation is voluntary.

Compressed Work Week Schedule and Number of Weeks in Averaging Period

Where approval to implement a compressed work week schedule has been granted, each district, section or natural working team shall agree to one schedule for implementation involving all participating employees in the group. The group will develop whatever compressed work week schedule that best suits their needs subject to the following:

- a) an averaging period of two (2) weeks totalling 75 hours; or
- b) an averaging period of four (4) weeks totalling 150 hours.

Implementation of compressed work week schedules and related averaging of hours of work allow the Company to ensure optimal allocation of resources to effectively respond to unforeseen, as well as regular fluctuations in customer demands.

The number of weeks in the averaging periods for the purpose of the compressed work week as described above are used because they best meet the Company's operations, business requirements and customers' needs as well as employees' needs.

Working Conditions

The working conditions applicable to employees working a compressed work week shall be those contained in the Collective Agreement currently in force between the parties, except where such conditions are governed by the provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement. It is understood that the day(s) off within the two-week (2) or fourweek (4) period can be scheduled any day of the week, with due consideration to force to load and to business requirements.

Duration

The duration of a compressed work week schedule shall be determined by mutual agreement between the parties.

Right to Discontinue

The Company, at its discretion and at any time, may discontinue any compressed work week schedule implemented under the terms of this Memorandum of Agreement. Prior to discontinuing the compressed work week, the Local President will be advised of the reasons of the decision by the CP4 manager.

The following changes to the provisions of the Collective Agreement currently in effect between the parties shall apply exclusively to Full-time employees working a compressed work week.

	COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
DE	EFINITIONS – ARTICLE 3	
•	3.01 (I)	
	"Day Period" means the period of time between 6:00 A.M. and 7:00 P.M. on any day.	"Day Period" means the period of time between 6:00 A.M. and 9:00 P.M. on any day.
•	3.01 (m)	
	"Off-Normal Period" means the period of time between 7:00 P.M. of one day and 6:00 A.M. of the following day.	"Off-Normal Period" means the period of time between 9:00 P.M. of one day and 6:00 A.M. of the following day.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
DIFFERENTIAL AND PREMIUM PAY – ARTICLE 22	
Premium Pay for Change in Tour of Duty	
22.03 (a) If an employee is given less than six (6) days notice of a change in her tour of duty, she shall, except as otherwise provided in Sections 22.05 and 22.06, be paid one-half time extra for time worked outside the tour of duty previously scheduled for the day, but only for the number of days by which the notice given is short of the six (6) day notice requirement.	Note: This provision shall only apply while working on a compressed work week; it shall not apply at time of transition (i.e. going from regular schedule to compressed work week or vice versa).

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
DIFFERENTIAL AND PREMIUM PAY – ARTICLE 22 (cont'd) Premium Pay for Consecutive Saturdays Worked	
• 22.07 An employee who is scheduled to work five (5) days per week or ten (10) days over a two (2) week period, and who, at the direction of the Company, works at least one-half day (3 ¾ hours) on each of successive Saturdays, shall, except as otherwise provided in Section 22.08, be paid one-half time extra for the time worked between midnight Friday and midnight Saturday on the second and subsequent consecutive Saturdays so worked.	An employee who is scheduled to work at least one-half day on each of successive Saturdays, shall, except as otherwise provided in Section 22.07, be paid one-half time extra for the time worked between midnight Friday and midnight Saturday on the second and subsequent consecutive Saturdays so worked. Note: One-half day is the assigned hours of work per day divided by two (2) depending on the chosen schedule.

	COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
HC	DURS OF WORK - ARTICLE 24	
Fu	II-time Employees	
•	24.01	
	The basic hours of work per day for a Full-time employee shall be 7 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours.	The basic hours of work per day for a Full-time employee shall be established based on the chosen schedule.
•	24.02	
	The basic hours of work per week for a Full-time employee shall be 37 ½ hours on the basis of a five (5) day week. However, the basic hours of work may be distributed over a two-week (2) period on the basis of ten (10) days totalling 75 hours.	The basic hours of work per two-week (2) period for a Full-time employee shall be 75 hours on the basis of less than ten (10) days in a two-week (2) period or 150 hours on the basis of less than 20 days in a four-week (4) period.

COL	LECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
OVERTI	ME - ARTICLE 25	
Overtime Employe	e Payments, Full-time and Part-time	
• 25.01		
	a Full-time employee overtime means the worked:	For a Full-time employee overtime means the time worked:
(a)	in addition to 7 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours of work on any day, or	(a) in addition to the assigned basic hours of work scheduled for that day depending on the chosen schedule, or
(b)	on a day outside her scheduled work week.	(b) on a day outside her scheduled work weeks.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
HOLIDAYS – ARTICLE 26	
Pay for Work on a Holiday	
• 26.08	
(a) Where a Full-time employee is required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she:	(a) Where a Full-time employee is required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she:
(i) shall be paid at her basic rate of pay for that day, or	(i) shall be paid at her basic rate of pay for that day, up to a maximum of 7.5 hours, or
(ii) may be granted a holiday with pay at a time convenient to the employee and the Company, provided the employee works her basic hours for the day.	(ii) may be granted a holiday with pay, at 7.5 hours, at a time convenient to the employee and the Company, provided the employee works her basic hours for the day.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
HOLIDAYS – ARTICLE 26 (cont'd)	
	It is understood that should there no longer be a maximum value of 7.5 hours for holidays and days off with pay due to labour legislation, the number of personal days off with pay under Sections 27.04 - 27.06 will be adjusted to ensure that employees on a compressed work week are not granted more hours off than employees on a regular work week.
Pay for Holiday not Worked	
• 26.11	
Where an employee is not required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she shall be granted the day off with pay, at her basic rate of pay for that day.	Where an employee is not required to work on a Company holiday which is included in her scheduled work week, she shall be granted the day off with pay, at her basic rate of pay for that day at 7.5 hours.

	COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISION	COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
DA	YS OFF WITH PAY - ARTICLE 27	
•	27.01	
	In addition to the holidays provided in Section 26.01, each employee in the employ of the Company on December 1 st shall be granted two (2) days off with pay, on days determined by the Company, at her basic rate of pay for the day.	In addition to the holidays provided in Section 26.01, each employee in the employ of the Company on December 1 st shall be granted two (2) days off with pay at 7.5 hours each, on days determined by the Company, at her basic rate of pay for the day.
Pe	rsonal Days Off With Pay 27.04 - 27.06	Under these Sections employees will be granted 30 hours of personal time off with pay for personal needs, half of which can be used for emergencies during the applicable prescribed period. It is understood that should there no longer be a maximum value of 7.5 hours for holidays and days off with pay due to labour legislation, the number of personal days off with pay will be adjusted to ensure that employees on a compressed work week are not granted more hours off than employees on a regular work week.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PROVISI	ON COMPRESSED WORK WEEK APPLICATION
VACATIONS - ARTICLE 28	
• 28.03	Vacation entitlement will be converted to hours. Hours of vacation are deducted depending on the hours of the chosen option for each day of vacation taken during the period where the employee is on a compressed work week schedule.
Where a Company holiday falls on a da annual vacation, an employee shall be to an additional day off with pay at convenient to the employee and the Cor	entitled additional day off with pay at 7.5 hours, at a time convenient to the employee and the Company.

<u>General</u>

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

It is understood that the implementation of any compressed work week is subject to legal requirements prescribed under any applicable legislation.

The parties agree that the provisions of Articles 16 and 17 of the Collective Agreement currently in force between the parties, shall be used for the purpose of processing any differences regarding the interpretation or administration of the terms and conditions applicable to the employees working on a compressed work week basis. It is further agreed that any such differences shall be based on the terms and conditions set out in this Memorandum of Agreement, where applicable.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

COMPANY'S POSITION ON OUTSTANDING GRIEVANCES RELATED TO PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The above parties have agreed as follows:

The attached grievances will be suspended until ratification. Upon ratification the parties will come to an agreement on the treatment of the attached grievances. Within 30 days of ratification the parties will review the attached list of grievances and decide to:

- · Remove the letters on file and withdraw the grievances; or
- Continue the grievance process

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

Serge Thibault

For the policy grievance the Union agrees to postpone this grievance for a one (1) year period from the date of ratification.

It is understood that any grievance filed after the signature of this Memorandum of Agreement will be sent to step 3 of the grievance process to be put in abeyance and reviewed by the parties.

It is understood that the timelines prescribed in Articles 16 and 17 of the Collective Agreement are also suspended.

FOR THE	FOR THE
COMPANY	UNION

Josephine Petcher

EMPLOYEE RECLASSIFICATIONS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

<u>AND</u>

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

It is understood that 100 Regular Part-Time employees will be reclassified to Regular Full-Time status based on their seniority.

It is understood and agreed that these reclassifications do not constitute job openings as defined in the Collective Agreement. Where possible, according to the Company, all reclassifications performed under this agreement shall take place in the employee's current job and at his current work location.

To be reclassified under these provisions, the employee must meet job requirements and/or not be subject to a performance improvement plan.

Employee reclassifications must be completed no later than three (3) months following the signature of the Collective Agreement.

This memorandum of agreement is not an integral part of the collective agreement.

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

FACT FINDING MEETINGS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The above parties have agreed as follows:

Within three (3) months after the signing of the Collective Agreement, a one (1) year trial shall be introduced regarding fact finding meetings related to the alleged violation of the Code of Business Conduct that could likely lead to a disciplinary measure. For the duration of the trial, the process will be as follows:

- When a Company representative conducts a fact finding meeting with an employee concerning the alleged violation of the Code of Business Conduct that could likely lead to a disciplinary measure, the Company representative shall:
 - Advise the employee and the Union Representative, in general terms (for example: misappropriation, conflict of interest, breach of trust, etc.), of the nature of the meeting, prior to the meeting, and;
 - o Invite the Union representative to attend the meeting, unless the employee objects.
- In conducting such meetings, Company and Union representatives will perform their respective responsibilities in a professional and courteous manner with mutual respect for their counterparts.

It is understood that Union representatives, although not active participants, will have the ability to ask questions for clarification purposes but shall, in no way, disrupt the investigation process.

The Company and the Union shall meet quarterly to review the results and make recommendations as appropriate.

A final assessment by the parties to determine if the process described herein will be maintained for the duration of the Collective Agreement shall be conducted in a fair and reasonable manner at the end of the trial. However, should there be, in the Company's opinion, disruptions to the meetings, this Memorandum of Agreement may be rescinded by the Company upon 30 days' notice to the Joint Labour Relations Committee.

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

HOME DISPATCH

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement with respect to Home Dispatch. The implementation and application of Home Dispatch is determined by each business unit, based on business needs. It is understood that Home Dispatch must provide advantages and benefits to the Company and to the employees for it to be implemented and maintained in a group.

Eligibility

The duration and location(s) of Home Dispatch assignments will be determined by the Company.

Employees in a group where Home Dispatch is offered may volunteer to participate. An employee who volunteers to participate shall reach an arrangement with her immediate manager regarding the assignment of her work, having due regard to Company operations. Any such arrangement is subject to the provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement. It is agreed that participation in a Home Dispatch assignment may be terminated by the business unit or the employee upon two (2) weeks notice.

Home Dispatch

It is expressly understood that a participating employee must, at all times, provide a secure parking location for the Company motor vehicle at her place of residence. This may include, with the Company's approval, a secure parking location which is not necessarily situated on the property of the employee's place of residence.

A participating employee is authorized to use the Company motor vehicle assigned to her only in the performance of her work and for traveling between her work and her place of residence.

The operating and maintenance costs of the vehicle will be at the Company's expense. The Company will make arrangements for the maintenance of the vehicle; however, it will be the responsibility of the participating employee to ensure that the vehicle is properly maintained.

Insurance coverage for the vehicle will continue to be provided by the Company as long as the employee respects Company practices, this Memorandum of Agreement and the arrangement reached with her immediate manager.

Working Conditions

Article 31 of the Collective Agreement is replaced by the following:

ARTICLE 31 TRAVEL TIME AND EXPENSES

- **31.01** The time spent travelling at the beginning of a tour of duty from the employee's place of residence shall be included in the basic hours of work for the day.
- **31.02** (a) The time spent travelling at the end of a tour of duty from the location where the employee completes her work to the employee's place of residence shall not be included in the basic hours of work for the day and shall be unpaid.

- (b) If the employee is required to go back to her normal work location at the end of each day, her work location is the place where she completes her tour of duty.
- (c) If the work location is changed by the Company on a temporary basis inside or outside her normal headquarters and the employee is required to go back to her work location in accordance with Subsection 31.02 (b), the portion of travel time exceeding 15 minutes of her regular travelling time from the work location to her place of residence will be paid at her regular hourly rate of pay notwithstanding Subsection 31.02 (a).
- (d) If the work location is changed by the Company inside her normal headquarters on a permanent basis and the employee is required to go back to her work location in accordance with Subsection 31.02 (b), the provisions of Subsection 31.02 (c) apply only for the days worked during a period of 60 days immediately following the change of work location.
- **31.03** Where an employee is required to remain away from home overnight, she shall be paid approved board and lodging expenses.
- 31.04 An employee who takes sick or meets with an accident while receiving board and lodging from the Company, may be returned to her place of residence at the expense of the Company.

For purposes of liability, an employee driving a Company vehicle in the circumstances set out in Section 31.02 above shall be considered as though at work during the time she is necessarily in control of such vehicle and acting in the course of her employment.

General

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

The parties agree that any differences concerning this Memorandum of Agreement shall be discussed on a consultative basis.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
COMPANY	UNION
FOR THE	FOR THE

JOINT LABOUR RELATIONS COMMITTEE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

<u>AND</u>

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree as follows:

- 1. The parties agree to establish one (1) Joint Labour Relations Committee consisting of four (4) Company representatives (including the Chief Negotiator or his delegate), six (6) Union representatives and two (2) National Representatives. It is understood that the Union's bargaining committee members shall be representatives on the Joint Labour Relations Committee.
- 2. The mandate of the Committee is to, first and foremost, foster and improve relationships between the Company and the Union, and to discuss and make recommendations as it deems necessary on:
 - (a) the administration of the job posting procedure and Regular Full-Time job opportunities;
 - (b) the various methods and standardized questionnaires used in determining the potential, the aptitude and the attitude of an employee wishing to be considered for a job posting;
 - (c) review trends of grievances or issues that may arise from time to time; without authority over grievances that are currently in the grievance process;
 - (d) discuss enhancements which could be made to the administrative processes surrounding benefits requests (such as Short Term Disability or medical reimbursements) and the administration of benefits as it pertains to employees on short term disability (STD) or long term disability (LTD);
 - (e) review of Regular Full-Time opportunities, and:
 - (f) scheduling, such as vacation allotments, days off, overtime, etc., and operational areas of improvement.
- 3. Other topics may be brought forth for discussion by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 4. The Committee does not have the mandate or the authority to make or recommend changes to the collective agreement or to deal with issues that are more properly addressed through collective bargaining.
- 5. The Joint Labour Relations Committee shall set its own schedule of meetings but shall meet at least quarterly.
- 6. It is understood that should the agenda include discussions related to paragraph 2 (d), the Company will invite a member of the Mental Health, Workplace Practice and Disability Management team and a representative from the insurance provider.
- 7. Reasonable expenses incurred by the Union representatives, which are necessary for their work on the Committee, shall be reimbursed by the Company, according to its practices.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	

MANAGERIAL OR NON-MANAGEMENT NON-UNIONIZED JOB POSTINGS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

<u>AND</u>

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

It is understood that Managerial or Non-Management non-unionized Job Postings shall be reviewed by Human Resources and/or Labour Relations to ensure that the occupation is not covered by Appendix A of the Collective Agreement using the current criteria used to review positions.

It is understood that the occupation performed must be similar to the requirements of the job posted.

In the event that a Managerial or Non-Management non-unionized Job Posting is deemed to be covered by the Collective Agreement, the job posting shall be posted in accordance with the provisions of Article 33.

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the term of this Collective Agreement.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
EOD THE	EOD THE

MENTAL HEALTH MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

In September 2010, Bell Let's Talk began a new conversation about Canada's mental health. At that time, most people were not talking about mental illness. But the numbers spoke volumes about the urgent need for action. Millions of Canadians, including leading personalities engaged in an open discussion about mental illness, offering new ideas and hope for those who struggle, with numbers growing every year.

Given Bell Canada's leadership in the area of Mental Health, Bell Canada and Unifor recognize the importance of ensuring a workplace culture which promotes and improves the mental health of all employees in the workplace. Bell Canada and Unifor have a common interest in promoting and enhancing a working relationship consistent with the principles of the Bell Let's Talk initiative.

In light of the above, Bell Canada and Unifor agree that within 3 months of ratification of the collective agreement, the parties will convene a meeting to discuss mental health initiatives currently in place in the workplace and what can be done to enhance the mental health initiatives in the workplace.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	

OUTSOURCING / CONTRACTING OUT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

Bell Canada is evolving in a very competitive marketplace and the parties recognize that in order to remain successful, Bell Canada needs to manage its business in the most efficient manner. The parties agree that, amongst other things, efficiency requires flexibility in the workforce, the assignment of work and Bell's ability to assign employees according to customer and business needs.

It is understood that Bell Canada has the right to outsource or contract out any of the work normally performed by employees included in the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit at any time and under its own terms, subject to Letters of Intent on the Utilization of External Human Resources and on Outsourcing Initiatives and to the present Memorandum of Agreement.

The Company's preference is to maintain employment internally. In light of this, the intent of this Memorandum of Agreement is to provide a measure of job security for existing Regular Bell Canada employees, in the event that Bell Canada decides to outsource or contract out any of the work normally performed by employees included in the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit.

The parties agree that before Bell Canada outsources or contracts out any work normally performed by employees in the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit, the Company shall meet with the Union's Chief Negotiators and impacted Local Presidents to discuss, review and exchange on issues associated with outsourcing or contracting out.

Therefore, the parties agree as follows:

- It is agreed that for the duration of this Memorandum of Agreement, Bell Canada will not, as a direct result of
 the outsourcing or contracting out of any of the work normally performed by employees included in the
 Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit, declare a surplus that would result in the termination or
 lay off of any Regular Bell Canada employee included in the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining
 unit.
- 2. The parties acknowledge that Bell Canada may resort to the outsourcing or contracting out of bargaining unit work to deal with incremental work volume, work volume generated through attrition and/or for other operational reasons, including situations involving the movement of members of the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit to entities outside of Bell Canada.
- 3. The parties agree that in situations where any differences concerning the interpretation or application of this Memorandum of Agreement arise, a grievance shall be filed and shall be processed through expedited arbitration. The matter shall be heard by an arbitrator on a date mutually agreed to by the parties.
- 4. The job security protection described in paragraph 1 of this Memorandum of Agreement, which is provided in the specific context of the modifications made to the Collective Agreement as part of its renewal, shall be in force for the duration of the collective agreement.

Gene	ral
------	-----

Serge Thibault

female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.	
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	
FOR THE COMPANY UNION	

Josephine Petcher

PAID EDUCATION LEAVE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

<u>AND</u>

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

Re: Paid Education Leave

Effective December 1, 2017, the Company agrees to pay into a special fund an amount of two cents (\$0.02) per hour for regular hours to provide for a Unifor Paid Education Leave (PEL) program. Effective December 1, 2019 the amount shall be increased to three (\$0.03) cents per hour.

Such payment will be remitted on a regular basis into a trust fund established by Unifor effective from the date of ratification. Payments will be sent by the Company to the following address:

Unifor Paid Education Leave Program 205 Placer Court Toronto ON M2H 3H9

Candidates for PEL shall be selected by the Union to attend. The Union will provide written confirmation to the Company of such selection. Employees on PEL leave of absence will continue to accrue seniority and service.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The Company has the exclusive right and power to manage the performance of the employees, in accordance with the Collective Agreement.

The parties agree that, amongst other things, performance management requires an effective and reasonable performance management system that maximizes the potential and contribution of every employee.

In achieving this objective, any performance management system will require clear job expectations and objectives, and ongoing feedback.

The objective of the ongoing feedback and evaluation process will be to ensure that employees understand job expectations and receive ongoing feedback on their performance. The process will include reasonable measurements of employees' performance and will be linked to business objectives and ultimately to customer service.

Notice of changes in performance indicators impacting employees' performance assessment will be provided to the union a minimum of 30 days in advance, and to employees a minimum of 15 days. During that period, the parties will have a meaningful discussion on changes to performance indicators.

Appropriate and timely coaching and training will also be provided to employees to assist them on the path of being successful and to identify areas of improvement. There will be clear and reasonable opportunities to improve where an employee is not able to meet job expectations.

The objective of the performance management process is to ensure that employees have the right skills and competencies to succeed in their current jobs.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

PROFILES

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree as follows:

The Company may initiate and, at an employee's request, the Union may request a profile review when there are noticeable changes to the tasks, roles and / or responsibilities of a position. The profile review may be for the position of an employee, group of employees, or of the profile itself, as applicable.

The Company is responsible to review profiles, reclassify an employee or group of employees who perform the same work into the same appropriate profile, evaluate new Clerical and Associated positions, create profiles and determine the appropriate salary group.

Process:

- In order for a profile review to be initiated by employees, the employee or group of employees will be required to submit a duly completed Job Evaluation Questionnaire and transmit the request to the Union to be submitted to the Company on behalf of the employee or group of employees.
- As part of any profile review (including reclassifications, revisions to profiles and the creation of new profiles), the Company's representatives will verbally consult the affected employee, or a number of employees as applicable, in the presence of a union representative, and their supervisor(s).
- The tasks, roles and responsibilities of a position or profile being reviewed will be evaluated using the Hay Group method of job evaluation.
- Such requests will be decided within a 90-day period following the reception of a duly completed request.
 The 90-day period may be extended by mutual consent, in writing. It is understood that this consent will not be unreasonably withheld.
- Decisions will be provided to the employee (or group of employees) and the Union and must include the motives and rationale explaining the decision.

Wage Administration:

The rules governing salary treatment further to a revision or reclassification shall be the following:

- if the occupation is downgraded the employee will benefit from wage protection (for clarity, the employee's rate of pay prior to the downgrade) for the duration of the Collective Agreement and will be entitled annually to a \$750.00 lump sum in lieu of a bargained increase as described in Attachment C of the Collective Agreement until the top salary rate for her salary group exceeds her current rate.
- if the occupation is upgraded the pay adjustment will be effective from the date of the request.

General:

Once a new profile is created by the Company, the Company will notify the Union of the appropriate profile and the associated salary group.

It is understood that the salary protection described above does not apply to evaluations and reclassifications undertaken pursuant to the 2005 collective agreement.

The parties agree and understand that the Profile Plan of job evaluation method and/or system is at the sole discretion of the Company. In the event of a disagreement on this Memorandum of Agreement, the Union may file a grievance and such grievance shall be subject to the grievance process provided for in Article 16 of the Collective Agreement. The parties agree that notwithstanding the provisions of Article 17 of the Collective Agreement, the jurisdiction of the arbitrator will be solely limited to determining whether the Company acted in bad faith, arbitrarily or in a discriminatory manner in applying its job evaluation method and/or system.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montreal this 19th day of April 2018.	

REGULAR FULL-TIME OPPORTUNITIES MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm the following:

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

In light of the Company's objective to promote employee mobility across Bell, the parties agree to the following:

- 1. On a quarterly basis, the Company will review, with the Union, all Regular Part-Time employees and their hours worked in order to determine the possibility to reclassify Part-Time employees to Full-Time status;
- 2. The Company agrees to review job postings to explore the possibility of offering Full-Time positions;

It is understood that Regular Part-Time employees who are provided with the opportunity to become Regular Full-Time, with due consideration to seniority, must meet job requirements and/or not be subject to a performance improvement plan.

General

Any disagreement under the terms of this Memorandum of Agreement may be brought to the Joint Labour Relations Committee for discussion.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

RESTRICTIONS ON CO-LOCATED CONTRACTORS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree as follows:

1. The Company shall not co-locate contractors who perform bargaining unit work beside Clerical and Associated employees in a Bell premise.

Unforeseen Circumstances

- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 1, co-locating contractors who perform bargaining unit work beside Clerical and Associated employees in a Bell premise shall only be possible:
 - (a) for less than ninety (90) days when the Company is unable to perform the work, or;
 - (b) by mutual consent of the parties.

Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.

It is understood that the exception provided for in subparagraph 2 (a) is not intended to bypass the spirit of this Memorandum of Agreement, but to provide relief for unforeseen circumstances.

Review Process

- 3. Within twelve (12) months following the signing of this Memorandum Agreement, and for every identified co-located contractor who perform bargaining unit work beside Clerical and Associated employees in a Bell premise, the Company shall determine its options such as, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 33, offer a Temporary Part-Time position contingent on the contractor meeting Bell's hiring requirements, including pre-employment screening.
- 4. The Company will provide the Union updates during Joint Labour Relations Committee meetings.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

SECURITY INTERVIEWS

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN: BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement with respect to interviews conducted by representatives of the Security Department for employees covered by the Clerical and Associated Employees' bargaining unit:

- Prior to a security interview, the employee's manager, or their delegate, will inform her that she is entitled to be accompanied by a Representative of the Union.
- A Union representative shall be granted immediately prior to a security interview, a maximum of 15 minutes to confer with the employee whom she represents.
- The Union representative shall, unless the employee objects, be invited by management to attend a security interview whenever an employee is interviewed by a representative of the Company's Security Department.
- In conducting such interviews, Company and Union representatives will perform their respective responsibilities in a professional and courteous manner with mutual respect for their counterparts.
 The main purpose of the interview is to determine the facts in relation to the matter being investigated.
- Prior to any security interview, the employee involved shall be advised, in general terms (for example: misappropriation, conflict of interest, breach of trust, etc.), of the nature of the interview.
- It is understood that local management and Union representatives, although not active participants, will have the ability to ask questions for clarification purposes prior to the conclusion of the interview but shall, in no way, disrupt the investigation process.

General

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

The parties agree that any differences concerning this Memorandum of Agreement shall be discussed on a consultative basis.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
COMPANY	UNION
FOR THE	FOR THE

SITE CONSOLIDATIONS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree as follows:

- Circumstances may arise where the Company may need to consolidate sites namely as a result of but not limited to productivity gains, technological improvements, process streamlining, enhanced customer experience or reduced workload.
- 2. As a result of site consolidations: a) employees will be offered the opportunity to relocate to the receiving site, b) after considering those employees relocating to the receiving site, the Company shall post according to Article 33 of the Collective agreement the number of jobs that will be required to perform the workload relocated to the receiving site.
- 3. It is understood that efficiency gains may arise from a site consolidation but that no work normally performed by employees included in the Clerical and Associated Employees bargaining unit shall be contracted-out or outsourced as a result of a site consolidation.
- 4. When efficiencies are identified by the employer, the Company commits to meaningful dialogue with the Union to discuss the reasoning for a reduction in the number of employees required to perform the work.

Sorgo Thibault	Iosanhina Patchar
COMPANY	UNION
FOR THE	FOR THE

SPLIT SHIFT FOR TELEWORKING MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement with respect to split shifts for teleworking for Clerical and Associated employees. Implementation and participation in the program will be determined by each business unit, based on business needs.

Eligibility

Split shift schedules shall apply only to teleworking Clerical and Associated employees.

Eligible employees will be selected amongst Regular employees who qualify for teleworking and who volunteer for split shifts.

It is agreed that participation in Split Shifts for Teleworking may be terminated by the business unit, or the employee, upon two (2) weeks notice.

Working Conditions

Sections 24.08 and 24.09 of the Collective Agreement will not apply to employees working on split shifts.

The split shift schedules for teleworking as well as the intervals between shifts, will be determined by Bell-Unifor joint committees. However, the interval between the two (2) half tours shall not exceed five (5) hours. Each committee has the flexibility to offer to teleworking employees, schedules that alternate between continuous and split shift tours of duty.

Administration of the Split Shift Program for Teleworking

For each group that decides to establish such a program, guidelines related to the administration of the program will be established by managers after consultation with the Unifor Local President(s).

General

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

The parties agree that any differences concerning this Memorandum of Agreement shall be discussed on a consultative basis.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

VIOLENCE OR ABUSE IN PERSONAL LIFE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The Company recognizes that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance or performance at work. For that reason, the Company agrees, when there is adequate and timely verification from a recognized professional (i.e. doctor, lawyer, registered counsellor), an employee who is in an abusive or violent situation will not be subject to discipline if the absence can be linked to the abusive or violent situation. Absences which are not covered by the provisions of article 29 will be granted as absence with pay, up to a maximum of five (5) days per calendar year.

Serge Thihault	Iosanhina Patchar
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	

VISUAL DISPLAY TERMINAL MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The above parties agree as follows:

- 1. Any Regular Full-time or Regular Part-time employee who is pregnant, who is regularly scheduled to work at a visual display terminal (V.D.T.) and who does not wish to work at a V.D.T. during the remainder of her pregnancy may, subject to the conditions expressed in this Memorandum, elect either of the following two options:
 - a) Be assigned other work in the bargaining unit, in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Memorandum of Agreement, or
 - b) Receive a leave of absence without pay to cover the period prior to which she is or would be entitled to a maternity leave of absence pursuant to Article 14 of the Collective Agreement between the parties dated March 7, 2018, hereinafter designated as the Collective Agreement.

Other Work Assignment

- 2. Employees who elect option a) shall be assigned to a vacant position, where one exists in the bargaining unit, in the following manner and sequence:
 - First, to a vacant position, at a comparable salary level, in her own work location.
 - Second, to a vacant position, at a comparable salary level, at any other work location.
 - Third, to a vacant position, at a lower salary level, at any work location, in which case she shall immediately be paid the rate for that job.

The assignment of employees who elect option a) takes precedence over outstanding transfer requests.

- If, after following the sequence referred to above, an employee cannot be reassigned, she may elect option b).
- 3. An employee who elects option a) shall, within the following five (5) working days, be offered other work in the bargaining unit.
- 4. An employee who elects option a) and who is assigned to another job:
 - a) Foregoes her right, for the duration of the temporary assignment, to the provisions of Articles 23 and 31 of the Collective Agreement between the parties, and
 - b) Shall choose her vacation in her former office as if she still occupied her former position in that office.

- 5. An employee who elects option a), who is assigned to a new position and who is unwilling to commence or to continue work in her new position, may then elect either to stay in her original position or to exercise option b). If she elects option b) before reporting to her new position, she will stay in her original position until option b) takes effect.
- 6. An employee who elects option a) who wishes to resume her employment on expiration of her maternity leave shall be reinstated in the position occupied by her immediately prior to her reassignment.

Leave of Absence (without pay)

- 7. a) In order to be eligible to receive the leave of absence referred to in paragraph 1 b) the employee must complete and submit an application, with acceptable documentation certifying the pregnancy, and specifying the estimated date of delivery. The Company agrees that every effort will be made to expedite the granting of the leave of absence and in any case, the implementation of such a leave of absence will not be delayed for more than five (5) days following the date of application for the leave of absence, unless a longer period is agreed to by the employee.
 - b) An employee who is on a leave of absence referred to in paragraph 1 b) and whose pregnancy is terminated shall be reinstated in the position occupied by her at the time she first made an election under paragraph 1. Such reinstatement shall be made within five (5) days of a request by the employee.
- 8. In addition to paragraph 7, employees who are eligible to, and wish to apply for, a maternity leave of absence pursuant to Article 14 of the Collective Agreement must do so in accordance with the provisions of that Article. (For greater clarity, this means that an employee must make the application required in Article 14 of the Collective Agreement at the appropriate time during the leave of absence referred to in paragraph 1 b).)

General

The parties agree that any differences regarding the interpretation or administration of the above terms and conditions may be processed in accordance with the provisions of Articles 16 and 17 of the Collective Agreement.

The Company and the Union shall act in a fair and reasonable manner carrying out the provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

VOLUNTARY PROGRAMS OF REDUCED HOURS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree that, where a Voluntary Program of Reduced Hours exists, an employee classified as Regular Full-time may, subject to the conditions expressed in this Agreement and to the conditions set forth in any applicable Company practice, elect to be reclassified as a Regular Part-time employee for a period of time agreed to by the employee and her manager, with a guarantee of reclassification to her Regular Full-time classification following the expiration of the agreed period.

Implementation of a Program

Whenever it is appropriate, in the judgment of the Company, to implement a Voluntary Program of Reduced Hours, the appropriate CP4 manager or the next higher level of management, as the case may be, will, following notification to the Union, circulate to the groups concerned within his District, a notice advising of the Program's availability and requesting that eligible employees who are interested in being reclassified submit their request within a specified time period.

An eligible employee who elects to be voluntarily reclassified shall reach an understanding with her immediate manager regarding the duration, location, work assignment and conditions applicable to such reclassification to a Part-time position. Notwithstanding the possibility that under such a Program the Part-time position offered to the employee may be in another District, the responsibility for administration of the Program remains with the originating District. Once the manager and the employee have come to an understanding, the terms and conditions of such shall be confirmed to the employee in writing and a copy shall be given to the Representative of the Union. Where applicable, additional copies of this understanding will also be provided to the manager and the Representative of the Union in the receiving District.

Short-term or Long-term Options

An employee's participation in a Voluntary Program of Reduced Hours shall be for the period of time set forth in the applicable Program. However, where an employee has been declared surplus, her participation in the Program shall end coincident with her placement.

A Program may include Short-term or Long-term options, or a combination of the two.

Opting in or opting out of a Program shall only be by mutual consent. Where the employee has been placed in another District, both the sending and receiving managers must provide their consent.

The selection of employees will be in order of an employee's net credited service date.

Short-term Option

The Short-term Option is for a period of not less than one (1) month but not to exceed a maximum duration of 12 months.

At the expiration of the agreed period, the employee participating in a Program shall be reclassified to her previous Regular Full-time classification.

Long-term Option

The Long-term Option is for a period exceeding 12 months.

The reclassified employee may, every year, during the period of this option, request in writing to be reclassified to her previous Regular Full-time classification. Such request shall be made on the anniversary date of the employee's reclassification.

The Company shall have up to six (6) months to honour the employee's request.

Salary and Working Conditions

An employee who is reclassified as a result of a Voluntary Program of Reduced Hours will be paid as a Regular Part-time employee and will be subject to the working conditions normally provided to the Regular Part-time employees, with the exception of those conditions that were covered in the written confirmation to the employee. In addition, where an employee changes work location due to her participation in a Program, the provisions of Article 31 shall not apply.

Prior to being reclassified to a Regular Part-time status, an employee should take her Personal Days Off with Pay in accordance with Section 27.04. The number of days that she is entitled to shall be established on a pro rata basis for the portion of time she has worked as a Full-time employee.

General

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

The parties agree that any differences, regarding the interpretation or administration of this Agreement shall be processed in accordance with Sections 16.03, 16.04 and Subsection 16.05 (b) of the grievance procedure contained in the Collective Agreement. The written statement of position provided by the CP5 manager, or equivalent, under Subsection 16.05 (b) shall constitute a final and binding settlement of the matter.

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the term of the Collective Agreement.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
COMPANT	UNION
COMPANY	UNION
FOR THE	FOR THE

WOMEN UNION SUPPORT ADVOCATE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN BELL CANADA

<u>AND</u>

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

The parties agree as follows:

- 1. Women, from the Clerical and Associated employees bargaining unit facing situations of domestic violence or abuse may confer with a Women Union Support Advocate who can direct the employee towards the appropriate support mechanisms. The time required for the Women's advocate to carry out their role will be paid by the company.
- 2. The Company and the Union shall agree on reasonable guidelines within 30 days following the signing of this Memorandum of Agreement.
- 3. The number of Women Union Support Advocates shall not exceed ten (10).
- 4. The company will ensure that Women's advocates will be afforded the time off required for training which will be paid by the Union.

Serge Thibault	Josephine Petcher
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

WORKFORCE ADJUSTMENT PLAN MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN:

BELL CANADA

AND

UNIFOR

REPRESENTING CLERICAL AND ASSOCIATED EMPLOYEES

This is to confirm our agreement, and reflects the discussions which were held concerning the force adjustment and lay-off provisions found in the Collective Agreement, with respect to the process to be implemented for dealing with workforce issues during the term of the Collective Agreement.

This Workforce Adjustment Plan is a tool to be used when there is a need for a reduction of staff levels to meet the challenges of an increasingly competitive marketplace. In order to respond to the impact of workforce adjustment, a process that involves the participation of the Union and provides for the fair and equitable treatment of surplus employees has been agreed to by the parties.

Key features of the Workforce Adjustment Plan include:

Involvement of the Union

The involvement of the Union in the Workforce Adjustment Plan is accomplished through the following forums: Department Joint Committees and District Joint Committees. These forums are designed to ensure that the Union is kept informed of developments in the management of the workforce within the context of this Plan and is able to review the application of the Workforce Adjustment Plan guidelines.

Department and District Responsibilities

The Workforce Adjustment Plan guidelines are to be implemented on a department and district basis as and where appropriate, in an attempt to resolve a staff surplus problem. These guidelines have been developed jointly and include the following: controls on hiring, reclassification to Regular status, the employment of Temporary employees, the process for filling any vacant position in this bargaining unit and the utilization of voluntary measures where possible.

Management of Surplus

If, after following the application of the Workforce Adjustment Plan guidelines, there remains a surplus of Regular employees, the Company will offer the displacement procedure where applicable as set out in Attachment A of this Agreement.

Separation *

Where after the application of the above-described process, surplus employees exist, they will be treated as follows:

For employees with less than fifteen (15) years of NCS:

- 1. Any surplus employee with less than fifteen (15) years of NCS may choose one of the following options:
 - a. A lay-off with recall rights for a period of fifty-two (52) weeks with a lay-off allowance as set out in Attachment B to this Agreement,

b. A lump sum payment upon termination equivalent to the value of the Company contribution had the employee received a lay-off allowance as set out in Attachment B to this agreement. However, should the Company offer a more generous corporate separation program at the time of the surplus declaration, the corporate plan will apply.

For employees with fifteen (15) or more years of NCS:

- 2. Any surplus employee with fifteen (15) or more years of NCS may choose one of the following options:
 - a. A lay-off with recall rights for a period of fifty-two (52) weeks with a lay-off allowance as set out in Attachment B to this Agreement,

or

b. A lump sum payment upon termination calculated as follows: 1.5 weeks X NCS X basic weekly rate. However, should the Company offer a more generous corporate separation program at the time of the surplus declaration, the corporate plan will apply.

Whenever an employee fails to select one of the above-mentioned options, she shall be separated from the Company in accordance with 1 b) or 2 b).

* Lump sum payments offered to Part-time employees shall be established on a pro-rated basis.

The Company will supply monthly to the Union, lists of employees who elect for a termination package by department and locality, indicating for each employee, the date of separation, the NCS date of the employee, and her original work location.

Career Transition Services

Career transition services will be offered to employees looking for another job inside Bell or elsewhere and will include: access to one-on-one counselling, job search support and training (as determined on a case by case basis). These services will be offered to employees, as appropriate, based upon an assessment of the individual's circumstances and the opportunities for placement.

General

Use in this Memorandum of Agreement of the feminine or masculine gender shall be construed as including both female and male employees, and not as specific sex designations.

It is understood that where an employee is placed into a lower-rated job as a result of the measures contemplated under this Agreement;

- move immediately to the step on the new wage schedule that grants the closest higher rate. If such rate does not exist, move to top step. The employee will benefit from wage protection (for clarity, the employee's rate of pay prior to the downgrade) for the duration of six (6) months.
- after this period, she shall immediately be paid the basic rate of pay for that job.

With the exception of the provisions found in Attachments A and B of this Agreement, the parties agree that any difference regarding the interpretation or administration of this Agreement shall be dealt with by the appropriate forums established for the involvement of the Union whose decisions shall constitute a final and binding settlement of the matter.

The parties agree that any difference regarding the inter Attachments A and B of this Agreement may be processed of the Collective Agreement.	·
<u>Duration</u>	
This agreement shall come into effect on March 7 th , 2018 a	and expire at the end of this Collective Agreement.
Signed at Montréal this 19th day of April 2018.	
FOR THE COMPANY	FOR THE UNION

Josephine Petcher

Serge Thibault

ATTACHMENT A

DISPLACEMENT PROCEDURE

If a Regular Employee	And the Employee	Then	Qualifiers	Notes
Is Surplus	Has twenty-five (25) years or more of completed NCS. NOTE: Employee with twenty-five (25) years or more of completed NCS CANNOT be displaced.	The employee can displace employee with less than twenty-five (25) years of completed NCS.	Employee must be qualified to perform the work and be productive within sixty (60) calendar days of refresher training. Refresher training is defined as short-term	
Is Surplus or Displaced	Has less than twenty-five (25) years of completed NCS and eight (8) years or more of completed NCS.	The employee can displace employee with less than eight (8) years of completed NCS.	training aimed at refreshing and reinforcing previously acquired skills. It is expressly understood by	
Is Displaced	Has less than eight (8) years of completed NCS.	Notes 1 and 2 only of the Displacement Chart shall apply.	the parties that the aforementioned training shall not be initial training.	
Is Surplus	Has less than eight (8) years of completed NCS.	Cannot Displace.	Not applicable.	Career Transition Services.

Displacement Chart

• First; by displacing the most junior employee in the same department within the same locality in the following order:

Step 1	Same Salary Group	Same District	Same Locality
Step 2	Same Salary Group	Same Department	Same Locality
Step 3	Other Salary Group	Same District	Same Locality
Step 4	Other Salary Group	Same Department	Same Locality

• Second; by displacing the most junior employee in the same locality, but across departments in the following order:

Step 5	Same Salary Group	Other Department	Same Locality
Step 6	Other Salary Group	Other Department	Same Locality

 Third; by displacing the most junior employee within the same department, but outside the locality in the following order:

Step 7	Same Salary Group	Same District	Other Locality
Step 8	Same Salary Group	Same Department	Other Locality
Step 9	Other Salary Group	Same District	Other Locality
Step 10	Other Salary Group	Same Department	Other Locality

Notes:

- 1. A Regular employee with less than eight (8) years of NCS, who has been displaced under Steps 1, 3, 7 or 9 of the above process may displace the most junior Regular employee on the same occupational title within the same department and locality, provided that such assignment can be made without displacing a more senior employee.
- 2. An employee who declines a placement into a position as provided by the above process shall be offered career transition services.

LAY-OFF ALLOWANCE PLAN

A Regular employee who is laid-off shall be granted lay-off allowance under the Lay-Off Allowance Plan, as follows:

1. Subject to paragraphs 2 to 5 below and the Employment Insurance Act and Regulations, a Regular employee's total lay-off allowance entitlement during a period of lay-off shall be as follows:

Net Credited Service on Date of Lay-Off		Al	ay-Off lowance titlement
Less than 1 year		0	
1 year but less than	2 years	3	weeks
2 years but less than	3 years	4	weeks
3 years but less than	4 years	5	weeks
4 years but less than	5 years	6	weeks
5 years but less than	6 years	7	weeks
6 years but less than	7 years	8	weeks
7 years but less than	8 years	9	weeks
8 years but less than	9 years	10	weeks
9 years but less than	10 years	11	weeks
10 years but less than 11 y	ears/	13	weeks
11 years but less than 12 y	ears/	14	weeks
12 years but less than 13 y	ears ears	15	weeks
13 years but less than 14 y	ears/	16	weeks
14 years but less than 15 y	ears ears	17	weeks

Three (3) weeks additional pay for each full year of service as of 15 years of NCS.

- 2. Lay-off allowance payments shall be based on the employee's weekly basic rate of pay in effect on the date of lay-off and made on a biweekly basis.
- 3. a) The Lay-Off Allowance Plan becomes operative at the time the employee applies and qualifies for Employment Insurance benefits and upon receipt of proof that she receives such benefits.

- b) Each week's benefit shall be equivalent to 90% of the employee's basic rate of pay on the date of the lay-off in the case of a Regular Full-time employee, and to 90% of the average basic rate of pay in the four pay periods preceding the date of the lay-off in the case of a Regular Part-time employee, less Employment Insurance benefits entitlement, any earnings from other employment and statutory deductions, subject to the maximum weekly earnings provided for under the Employment Insurance Act and Regulations.
- 4. Entitlement to the lay-off allowance will cease as follows:
 - a) when the lay-off allowance entitlement is used up;
 - b) when the employee reports for work subsequent to recall;
 - c) when the employee fails to report for work after recall;
 - d) when the employee has not been recalled to work within 52 weeks of the date of lay-off as set out in paragraph 5 of the Recall Procedures Section of this Attachment;
 - e) when the employee is disentitled or disqualified from Employment Insurance benefits;
 - f) when the employee obtains other employment which disentitles or disqualifies the employee from Employment Insurance benefits;
 - g)if the employee resigns.
- 5. An employee who has been recalled following a period of lay-off and is again laid-off prior to completing 52 weeks of continuous service after the date of return to work shall be granted a lay-off allowance pursuant to paragraph 1 above based on her overall net credited service after deducting the lay-off allowance she received during her previous lay-off.

Benefits Coverage

- 1. The Company agrees to treat the first 30 calendar days of a lay-off as a leave of absence and to maintain the eligibility of a laid-off employee during that period to:
 - a) credit for service:
 - b) participation in the health, life and accident insurance coverage under the Omniflex Benefits Program without payment of premium;
 - c) participation in the optional life and accident insurance plans, providing the employee prepays the applicable premiums prior to the commencement of a lay-off.

Recall Procedures

- 1. a) Laid-off employees shall be listed on a recall list by department and locality. With the exception of employees in Toronto and Montréal, where an employee has been laid-off in a locality and all of the Department's operations in that locality have been eliminated, or are expected to be eliminated within the one (1) year period following the date of the employee's lay-off, the employee shall, on the date of her lay-off, be permitted to place her name on the recall list for one (1) other locality within the operating territory of the Department.
 - b) When a job vacancy becomes available within the department and locality and a recall is warranted, eligible employees shall be recalled in inverse order of lay-off (by seniority, where two (2) or more employees have the same date of lay-off) provided they are immediately able to perform the work available. If there are no employees on the recall list who are immediately able to perform the work available, the same process will be followed for the recall of eligible employees provided they are qualified to perform the work available. When an employee accepts a recall to work, she shall immediately be paid the basic rate of pay for that job. If the employee accepts a recall to a work location other than her normal work location at the time of lay-off, she shall not be eligible to travel time and expenses as provided under Article 31 of the Collective Agreement.
- 2. It is the responsibility of a laid-off employee who desires to be recalled within the terms above to keep the Company informed of her correct address, and to advise the Company within ten (10) calendar days of the date of recall as to her acceptance.
- 3. The Company may assume that failure on the part of any laid-off employee to notify the Company within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the offer of recall concerning her acceptance of the offer, or to report for duty within 15 calendar days from the date of the offer or such other date as mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Company, shall constitute a rejection and the employee shall be deemed to have resigned.
- 4. The date of mailing of a registered letter to the employee's last address of Company record shall be the date of offer of recall.
- 5. a) A laid-off employee who has not been recalled to work within 52 weeks of the date she was laid-off shall be deemed to be terminated from the employ of the Company.
 - b) In the determination of the period of lay-off in paragraph 5 a) above, an employee who has been recalled following a period of lay-off and is again laid-off prior to completing 52 weeks of continuous service after the date of return to work shall not be considered to have interrupted the continuity of the lay-off, however, the period of re-employment shall not be included as forming part of the period of lay-off. It is understood that, until she has completed 52 weeks of continuous service after the date of return to work, a recalled employee is subject to direct lay-off and shall not have access to a separation package, the career transition services or the displacement procedure set out in Attachment A to this Agreement.

Information Lists

1. The Company agrees to supply monthly to the Union, lists of laid-off employees by department and locality indicating for each employee the date of lay-off, the NCS date, and her original work location.

The following Letters of Intent are provided solely for information purposes and shall not be construed as forming part of this Collective Agreement.

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

LETTERS OF INTENT	PAGE
Absence due to Family or Personal Emergencies	93
Corporate Health and Safety Committee	94
Employee Development and Training	95
Ergonomic Guidelines	96
Joint Pay Equity Committee	97
Local Health and Safety Committee (LHSC)	98
Outsourcing Initiatives	99
Planning for Paid Days Off	100
Preventing Violence in the Workplace Interviews	102
Training and Learning Opportunities	104
Unifor Humanity Fund	105
Unifor Joint Workplace Harassment Policy	106
Utilization of External Human Resources	107
Vacation Committees	109
Variable Pay Incentive Plan	110
Workforce Diversity and Employment Equity	111



1 Carrefour Alexander Graham Bell Building A, 2nd Floor Verdun, Québec H3E 3B3

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163

M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

M. Serge Thibault, Chief Negotiator - Bell Canada

Mme Josephine Petcher, National Representative Unifor

Subject: Absences Due to Family or Personal Emergencies

This is to confirm our understanding reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The Company and the Union recognize that employees have family and personal obligations and that emergencies that are unpredictable and beyond their control could lead to unpaid absences from work:

- home conditions (for example: flood, fire);
- personal emergencies (for example: car accident, theft or burglary)
- family emergencies (for example: sickness of a child or parent, school or daycare closure);
- medical or dental appointments that cannot be scheduled outside of working hours;
- interruption or failure of public transportation;
- road closure due to a major accident.

Aug Muhnell

The Union recognizes that it is the employees' responsibility to find alternatives so as to avoid absences from work and to take the necessary measures in order to return to work as soon as possible.

The Union recognizes that local management has the right to inquire as to the reason of the absence and to request, in certain cases when it deems it necessary, that the employee provide justification.

Where the criteria set forth in this Letter of Intent are met, the Company confirms that local management should authorize an absence for family or personal emergency.

It is also understood that, in order to minimize the financial impact on the employee, and depending on the circumstances, local management may authorize the employee to use paid time owing.

The parties also agree that any differences concerning this Letter of Intent may be brought to the Joint Labour Relations Committee for discussion.

Serge Thibault

Chief Negotiator Bell Canada

Josephine Petcher

National Representative

Unifor

M2H 3H9

Josephine Petcher

National Representative

205 Placer Court, Toronto, Ontario

Unifor

Bell Canada 1 Carrefour Alexander Graham Bell Building A, 2nd Floor Verdun, Québec H3E 3B3



Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Corporate Health and Safety Committee

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm the following:

Aug Thebruell

The Union will be represented by two (2) national Unifor representatives on the Corporate Health and Safety committee.

The additional national Union representative will act as a participant in the committee proceedings but will not have the right to a formal vote in the decision making process unless the Company adds a representative to a specific meeting.

This Letter of Intent shall be in effect from the date of signing until the expiry of the Collective Agreement.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator Bell Canada 1 Carrefour Alexander Graham Bell Building A, 2nd Floor Verdun, Québec H3E 3B3 Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163

M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Employee Development and Training

Ms. Petcher,

This will confirm our understanding related to Employee Development and Training resulting from participation in projects and activities, as mentioned below, reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

Employees are increasingly participating in workplace reorganization and other similar projects. They are also participating in joint committee activities established to address service, revenue, cost and employee issues.

The Company recognizes the valuable contribution which an employee can make to these activities and the skills, training and experience which the employee may gain through her participation. In the personal planning and development process, the manager and employee should ensure that the training and skills acquired by the employee as well as her contribution to these activities are appropriately noted.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Trubruell

Bell Canada 1 Carrefour Alexander Graham Bell Building A, 2nd Floor Verdun, Québec H3E 3B3

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Uniior

Subject: Ergonomic Guidelines

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to the Ergonomic Guidelines issued by the Company for employees who work with visual display terminals reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The Corporate Health and Safety Committee has developed an Ergonomic Awareness Program that was designed to increase knowledge and promote adherence to ergonomic principles. This program is now part of Bell's Accident Prevention Process (APP).

The business units will ensure that all new employees are trained within the first two months of hiring, and that this training is recorded in the employee's APP record.

The bargaining committees are supportive of the work being done by the Corporate Health and Safety Committee in this regard.

Both employees and managers continue to share a common responsibility to adhere to the existing Ergonomic Guidelines and encourage their application in the workplace.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug mitmell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Joint Pay Equity Committee

Ms. Petcher,

The parties agree to renew the Joint Pay Equity Committee consisting of four (4) Company representatives (including the Chief Negotiator or his delegate) and of four (4) Union representatives (including at least one (1) National Representative).

The mandate of the Committee is to, first and foremost, continue to discuss means for the parties to continue to ensure pay equity within the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Settlement Agreement concluded on August 30, 2002 with respect to the pay equity complaints under the *Canadian Human Rights Act*, and to discuss and make recommendations as it deems necessary on other topics that may be brought forth for discussion by mutual agreement of the parties.

The Joint Pay Equity Committee does not have the mandate or the authority to make changes to the collective agreement or to deal with issues that are more properly addressed through collective bargaining but can make the appropriate recommendations to the bargaining committees of the Company and the Union.

The Joint Pay Equity Committee shall set its own schedule of meetings but shall meet at least twice (2) a year, once (1) before June 30 and once (1) before December 31 of each year.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Mitniell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Local Health and Safety Committee (LHSC)

Ms. Petcher,

The Company agrees to organize a Local Health and Safety Committee (LHSC) Representatives meeting in Quebec and one meeting in Ontario within the twelve (12) months following the ratification of the Collective Agreement.

This Local Health and Safety Committee Representatives meeting is intended to review best practices associated to Health and Safety.

It is understood that reasonable expenses incurred by union representatives attending the meeting shall be reimbursed by the Company, according to it's practices.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Thibruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Outsourcing Initiatives

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to Outsourcing Initiatives reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

Should the Company decide to proceed with the outsourcing of work which falls within the scope of the Collective Agreement, the Company shall initiate discussions with the Union in an effort to establish a transition process aimed at limiting as much as possible the impact of the outsourcing on transferred employees and Company operations. Should Regular employees be declared surplus by the Company as a result of an outsourcing initiative, the Workforce Adjustment Plan Memorandum of Agreement shall apply.

The Company shall not oppose any application for certification made by the Union with respect to outsourced activities, subject to applicable legislation.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Trubruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Planning for Paid Days Off

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to a process for the planning and scheduling of paid time off reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

Implementation of the Process

Where it is determined locally, through a joint agreement between the CP4 manager and the Unifor Local President, a standardized process that provides for the planning and scheduling of days off throughout the year, will be implemented.

The days available to employees for planning and scheduling would be those acquired through provisions within the Collective Agreement, e.g. personal days off with pay, vacation in days, lieu days, days off with pay, and compensating time off.

Eligibility

Both Full-time and Part-time employees with paid days and/or compensating time off accumulated prior to the applicable scheduling period.

Scheduling Guidelines

For a minimum of 10 months within each calendar year, eligible employees will be able to select days to meet their personal needs. Full-time employees will be able to select a minimum of 10 days per year. Employees will advise their managers, during the scheduling process, of which day they will be using when they select their day off e.g. personal day off with pay, individual vacation day, lieu day, etc.

Each business unit that chooses to implement this process will determine, based on business and customer needs, which months per year will be available for employees to select within. This should not preclude normal provisions for vacation planning and scheduling over the course of the year. Business units may have different scheduling periods or restrictions on months or days available, based on force to load trends and customers' expectations.

Selection Process

The selection process for days off should be determined locally based on current scheduling practices. The maximum openings available per day for selection will be determined by each business unit and the existing procedures for schedule administration will be used as the communication tool with the employees.

It is agreed that consultation should take place between the designated Company and Unifor representatives when appropriate, to review the distribution of available days.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Thebruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Preventing Violence in the Workplace Interviews

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm the following:

- 1. When an employee is required to attend, as a respondent, an interview related to the alleged violation of the Company's Preventing Violence in the Workplace Policy, the employee shall be advised, in general terms (i.e. incident of alleged harassment), of the nature of the interview, prior to the meeting provided in paragraph 2 of this Letter of Intent.
- 2. A Local Union Representative shall be granted, immediately prior to the interview, a maximum of 15 minutes to confer with the employee whom he represents.
- 3. The Local Union Representative shall, unless the employee objects, be invited by management to attend the interview whenever an employee is interviewed, as a complainant or respondent, by a representative of the Company's Human Resources Department.
- 4. It is understood that the Local Union Representative shall attend the interview as observer to the process and not as participant. She shall be able to ask clarifying questions at the end of the meeting, but shall, in no way, disrupt the investigation process. During these interviews, Company and Local Union Representatives will perform their respective responsibilities in a professional and courteous manner with mutual respect for their counterparts. The main purpose of the interview is to identify the facts pertaining to the matter being investigated.

Duration

5. This Letter of Intent shall be in effect from the date of signing until the expiry of the Collective Agreement inclusive. However, should there be, in the Company's opinion, disruptions to the investigation process, this Letter of Intent may be rescinded by the Company upon 30 days' notice to the Joint Labour Relations Committee.

Regards,

Serge Thibault

Chief Negotiator

Aug Mitmell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Training and Learning Opportunities

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to the evolution of Training and Learning Opportunities for the employees reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The Company recognizes that a highly skilled workforce will create a sustained competitive advantage. In order to foster a work environment that promotes personal development and continuous competency development, the Company will support initiatives, processes and tools that will help employees enhance their employability.

The Company will ensure:

- that competency profiles exist for employees;
- that each employee has the opportunity to prepare a development plan with their manager on an annual basis, as per the Company performance management process;
- the Educational Assistance Plan, as outlined on the Human Resources website, is respected;
- that each employee is able to take up to one day (7 hours and 30 minutes) of training of her choice, from the courses offered online by the Company, during the life of this Collective Agreement.

The Company not only wishes to ensure that the employees will pursue development of competencies directly required to perform their current duties, but also acknowledges their desire to train in fields that they deem appropriate to advance their career within the Company. The manager and employee shall ensure, that the training and competencies acquired by the employee are documented in the overall planning and development process.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Dug Thebruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Unifor Humanity Fund

Aug Truboull

Ms. Petcher,

This will confirm our understanding related to the Unifor Humanity Fund reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The Unifor Humanity Fund will be added to the list of charities that are part of the Employee Giving Program.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Unifor Joint Workplace Harassment Policy

Ms. Petcher,

This confirms our agreement reached during the negotiations for the renewal of the Bell Canada Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement regarding Unifor's Joint Workplace Harassment Policy.

Unifor will present their Joint Workplace Harassment Policy at a Joint Labour Relations Committee within 6 months of the signing of the Collective Agreement.

Unifor will inform the Company at least 30 days prior to the scheduled JLRC of their intention to do the presentation and will provide the names of any additional Unifor representatives who will attend the presentation.

The Company will invite representatives of the Mental Health, Workplace Practice and Disability Management team to attend the presentation.

It is understood that the Union will pay the expenses of all Unifor employees and of any additional representatives who will attend the presentation.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Thebruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Utilization of External Human Resources

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to the Utilization of External Human Resources reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The parties have agreed to meet periodically to exchange information and to encourage consultation between management and representatives of the Union on issues related to the utilization of external human resources and its potential implications on the functions covered by the bargaining unit.

It is the Company's policy, whenever there is a requirement:

- for specialized skills, equipment and/or professional expertise, which is not normally performed or available within the Company or not available within the time frame required;
- to handle work which could otherwise result in an uneconomical drain on skilled employees;
- to temporarily supplement or replace work or services normally provided by existing employees;
- to resort to using external human resources to perform work or provide services required to meet its commitments and responsibilities towards its customers and the public.

The Company and the Union shall work together to balance the interests of customers, the Company and employees with respect to the utilization of external human resources.

To achieve this, each quarter, or more or less frequently if the parties so agree, each CP4 manager who uses or plans to use external human resources shall meet with the Local President to discuss and review such activities and the related concerns, within the CP4 manager's organization.

Discussions between the CP4 manager and the Local President (or their delegates) should include, but are not limited to: current and forecasted volume of work and future projects;

 alternatives such as using Temporary or Part-time employees, making more efficient use of available employees, etc. prior to the utilization of external human resources;

- work which the CP4 manager expects to have performed by external human resources. Management should notify the Union as much in advance as possible of its intent to resort to external human resources;
- utilization of external human resources by the CP4 manager's organization since the last meeting;
- feedback on work which was performed by external human resources to identify possible improvements or suggest alternatives.

In addition, the CP3 and/or CP2 manager and the Unifor Representative will meet before the planned hiring of external human resources to discuss the rationale, alternatives and duration of the contract.

Finally, as previously indicated, the Bargaining Committees will review the utilization of external human resources at consultative meetings.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Trubruell

Bell

Serge Thibault

Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Vacation Committees

Dear Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm the following:

Vacation committees should be established to facilitate employee participation in the preparation of schedules and guidelines.

Committee membership should be comprised of delegates from management, the Union, and the employees. This committee should normally begin meeting 2 to 3 months before year end.

The mandate of the committees shall be, first and foremost, to encourage the involvement of employees and the Union in the preparation of the vacation schedules, and to discuss and make recommendations, as required, on :

- (a) the preparation of the vacation calendar in the groups (either by CP2 manager, by CP3 manager, by function, by salary group, etc..) as determined by the Company, and;
- (b) the number of weeks of vacation in the summer period and/or in the prime weeks, and;
- (c) the ratio of weeks available, and;
- (d) exclusions and/or restrictions.

The Company must justify any exclusion or restriction included in the vacation calendar and should only apply embargos in extreme cases.

As much as vacation calendars are ultimately established by the Company based on business and service needs, the Company must take into account the interests, the comments and suggestions of the members of the vacation committees before submitting the vacation calendars to employees.

It is understood that any differences concerning this letter may be brought to the joint Labour Relations committee for discussion and resolution.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Dug Thebruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Variable Pay Incentive Plan

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to the Variable Pay Incentive Plan for Clerical and Associated Employees reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

The Variable Pay Incentive Plan (VPIP) shall apply to all Client Representatives who are on queue and have sales and revenue objectives. The Plan aims to recognize individual contribution to objectives such as sales, revenues, quality and productivity. The Plan features a motivational incentive to meet and exceed objectives.

Local Variable Incentive committees, which include representatives from the Union and the Company, will be established and maintained for the duration of the Collective Agreement as a forum for consultation on issues regarding the Variable Pay Bonus Plan. The committees will meet at regular intervals to ensure a continuous follow-up and, if applicable, make recommendations on evolving the plan

The potential earning opportunity is 12% of base pay at target that will be paid as a bonus if target objectives are achieved. The potential earning opportunity at target will not be decreased over the term of the Collective Agreement.

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator

Aug Trubruell

Bell

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator E: thibault.s@bell.ca T: 514 870-1163 M: 514 233-7684

April 19, 2018

Josephine Petcher National Representative Unifor

Subject: Workforce Diversity and Employment Equity

Ms. Petcher,

This is to confirm our understanding related to Workforce Diversity and Employment Equity reached during bargaining for the renewal of the Clerical and Associated Employees' Collective Agreement.

Vision

The Company and the Union are committed to fostering diversity and fairness in the workplace so that all employees are treated with dignity and respect, are free from harassment, and are provided the opportunity to achieve their full potential.

As a market leader, Bell is committed to achieving a diverse workforce that reflects the community from which it is drawn, and to give our Company a distinct competitive advantage by becoming:

- the Employer of Choice;
- the Company of Choice; and also
- a Leading Communications Innovator.

Role of the Business Units

Both parties agree that managers play a key role in fostering diversity in the workplace, and ensuring that employees understand the Company's policies as they relate to Workforce Diversity and Employment Equity. The CP4 managers are encouraged, with the assistance of the Human Resources and Labour Relations Consultants, to develop and support initiatives that will increase awareness and effect positive changes within their districts. Where appropriate, these initiatives shall include, but not be limited to:

- ensuring external and internal hiring practices facilitate attracting candidates from the four Designated Groups (i.e. Women, Aboriginal Peoples, Persons with Disabilities and Members of Visible Minorities) and the LGBT affinity group;
- ensuring new employees have the opportunity to complete the Self-identification Questionnaire upon hiring, as well as upon reclassification to Regular status;
- sensitizing employees to the Company's policies through communications and in employee meetings;
- promoting the Company's Diversity website;

- training on Diversity Awareness and/or Respect in the Workplace;
- supporting and broadening the network of Diversity Awareness Training Facilitators;
- supporting local events to promote diversity and multiculturalism.

The CP4 managers are encouraged to share the results of the initiatives in meetings between the Company and Unifor. The Joint Corporate Diversity and Employment Equity Committee will review on an ongoing basis the progress of the initiatives within the Business Units.

Joint Committee

The parties agree to establish a Joint Corporate Diversity and Employment Equity Committee, whose purpose shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- sponsoring and supporting activities that help achieve the vision;
- helping all employees to understand their responsibilities to treat others in a non-discriminatory and fair way;
- making recommendations to appropriate forums or departments in the Company;
- identifying and recommending methods to increase diversity, thereby working towards establishing a workforce that mirrors the community from which it is drawn;
- communicating the Committee's activities to employees.

The information made available by the Company and identified as being confidential shall remain confidential and be used only to carry out the Committee's activities, and cannot be used for any other purpose.

The Committee is composed of three (3) representatives of the Union who belong to the designated groups, one (1) National representative, one (1) representative of Labour Relations and one (1) representative of the Company's Diversity team.

The Committee shall meet two (2) times per year.

Aug Thebruell

Regards,

Serge Thibault Chief Negotiator